Dissertationes Forestales 12

Logging residues and ground vegetation in nutrient dynamics of a clear-cut boreal forest

Marjo Palviainen Faculty of Forestry University of Joensuu

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu, for public criticism in Auditorium C2 of the University, Yliopistokatu 4, Joensuu, on 25th November 2005, at 12 o'clock noon.

Title of dissertation: Logging residues and ground vegetation in nutrient dynamics of a clearcut boreal forest

Author: Marjo Palviainen

Dissertationes Forestales 12

Thesis supervisors:

Prof. Leena Finér, Finnish Forest Research Institute, Joensuu Research Centre Prof. Hannu Mannerkoski, Faculty of Forestry, University of Joensuu

Pre-examiners:

Heljä-Sisko Helmisaari, Finnish Forest Research Institute, Vantaa Research Centre Raija Laiho, University of Helsinki, Department of Forest Ecology, Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry

Opponent:

Bengt Olsson, Department of Ecology and Environmental Research, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden

ISSN 1795-7389 ISBN 951-651-112-0 (PDF)

Paper copy printed: Joensuun Yliopistopaino, 2005

Publishers: The Finnish Society of Forest Science Finnish Forest Research Institute Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu

Editorial Office: The Finnish Society of Forest Science Unioninkatu 40A, 00170 Helsinki, Finland http://www.metla.fi/dissertationes

ABSTRACT

In this thesis are studied the role of decomposing logging residues and developing ground vegetation in nutrient dynamics of a clear-cut area. The main aims were to study how much nutrients are released from logging residues during the first three years after clear-cutting and what is the role of ground vegetation in the retention of nutrients on site after clear-cutting. The study was conducted in eastern Finland in a Norway spruce dominated mixed forest, part of which was clear-cut and part left uncut. The decomposition of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) H. Karst.), Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth) logging residues i.e. foliage, fine roots (diameter ≤ 2 mm) and branches (diameter ≤ 1 cm), were studied using the litterbag method. Above- and below-ground biomass of the ground vegetation was sampled on one uncut plot and two clear-cut plots one year before and five years after clear-cutting.

In total, 33 % of the dry mass and C, 49 % of P, 90 % of K and 8 % of Ca were released from logging residues in three years, but there was no net release of N because more N accumulated in the roots and branches than was released from the foliage. The loss of mass, C, P and K was greatest during the first year, whereas there was no net release of Ca until the third year. Most of the released nutrients originated from the foliage. Total ground vegetation biomass and nutrient pools decreased after clear-cutting to one half or even lower, but returned to precutting levels within 4-5 years, and the pools of P and K became even larger. In the first year after clear-cutting more N and Ca accumulated in the logging residues than were stored in the ground vegetation.

The results indicate that logging residues are a potential source of the elevated dissolved C and P, K and Ca observed in surface waters soon after clear-cutting, but are not a net source of N during the first three years. The ground vegetation is capable of taking up only a small fraction of the nutrients that are released from logging residues during the first two years after clear-cutting and the decomposing dead ground vegetation is a potential source of leached nutrients. The results suggest that nutrients released from logging residues are initially retained on site primarily through soil processes and microbial immobilization. Solely microbial immobilization in logging residues can initially play a more important role in the retention of N and Ca than the ground vegetation. Ground vegetation, however, recovers rapidly from clear-cutting and it becomes thereafter a significant nutrient sink.

Keywords: biomass, branches, foliage, nutrient release, nutrient retention, roots

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Joensuu Research Centre of the Finnish Forest Research Institute during 2001-2005. This study is a part of the project "The effects of forest harvesting and scarification on catchment water and nutrient fluxes". The work was financed by The Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, The Finnish Forest Research Institute, Graduate School in Forest Sciences, The Academy of Finland (project no. 52740), The Finnish Cultural Foundation and The Faculty of Forestry of the University of Joensuu. I gratefully acknowledge support from all these institutions.

Many individuals contributed to various phases of this research. At first, I want to thank warmly Prof. Leena Finér and Prof. Hannu Mannerkoski for supervising my work. Thank you for guidance, valuable comments and encouragement during my work and first of all, that you gave me an opportunity to do this thesis. Many thanks also to Sirpa Piirainen, Michael Starr, Anne-Marie Kurka, Ari Laurén and Timo Domisch for inspiring discussions and comments and suggestions on the manuscripts.

I thank Pekka Järviluoto, Urho Kettunen and Markku Tiainen for fieldwork. Pekka Järviluoto also did enormous work in separating the roots from core samples. I wish to thank Anki Geddala, Anita Pussinen, Eija Koljonen and Seija Repo and the staff of the Central Laboratory of Finnish Forest Research Institute for laboratory analyses and a number of other people who worked in the laboratory and field for shorter periods of time.

I am very grateful to Jari Parviainen, head of Joensuu Research Centre, for providing me excellent working facilities, Jaakko Heinonen for help with statistical analyses, Michael Starr for revising the language of manuscripts, Leena Karvinen for preparing figures and Juha-Pekka Hotanen for help with the recognizing of plant species. I am also very grateful to Heljä-Sisko Helmisaari and Raija Laiho, pre-examiners of this thesis, for their criticism and good comments. I also thank John Derome for revising the English of the summary section. In addition, I want to thank the North Karelia Regional Environment Centre, particularly Marketta Ahtiainen, for co-operation, Finnish Forest and Park Service for providing the study site and carrying out the harvesting operations and the Ministry of Labour for supporting this research project.

Finally, I owe my dearest thanks to my parents, to my brother, to all friends and especially to Timo for great support, encouragement and joyful moments. Your support has been indispensable.

Joensuu, October 2005

Marjo Palviainen

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

The thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- Palviainen, M., Finér, L., Kurka, A.-M., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2004. Decomposition and nutrient release from logging residues after clear-cutting of mixed boreal forest. Plant and Soil 263: 53-67.
- II. Palviainen, M., Finér, L., Kurka, A.-M., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2004. Release of potassium, calcium, iron and aluminium from Norway spruce, Scots pine and silver birch logging residues. Plant and Soil 259: 123-136.
- III. Palviainen, M., Finér, L., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2005. Changes in the above- and below-ground biomass and nutrient pools of ground vegetation after clearcutting of a mixed boreal forest. Plant and Soil (in print).
- IV. Palviainen, M., Finér, L., Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2005. Responses of boreal forest ground vegetation species to clear-cutting – Aboveground biomass and nutrient contents during the first 7 years. Ecological Research (in print)

In studies I, II, III and IV, M. Palviainen carried out statistical analyses and was responsible for planning and writing the articles. In addition, M. Palviainen participated in nutrient analyses (I, II), sampling the ground vegetation and sorting the samples in the laboratory (III, IV). Co-authors provided the idea for the study, designed experiments and commented manuscripts.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	5
CONTENTS	6
1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Background	7
1.2 Factors affecting the decomposition rate	9
1.3 Development of ground vegetation after clear-cutting	11
1.4 Aims and hypotheses of the study	12
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	13
2.1 Study site	13
2.2 Decomposition experiment	13
2.3 Sampling the ground vegetation	14
2.4 Nutrient analyses	15
2.5 Calculations and statistical analyses	15
3. RESULTS	16
3.1 Decomposition of logging residues	16
3.2 Changes in the biomass and nutrient pools of the ground vegetation after	
clear-cutting	17
4. DISCUSSION	. 18
4.1 Logging residues and ground vegetation in nutrient dynamics of a clear-cut	
area	18
4.1.1 Nutrient pools and fluxes before clear-cutting	18
4.1.2 Nutrient content and decomposition of logging residues	18
4.1.3 Development of ground vegetation and its role in the retention of nutrient.	s
after clear-cutting	22
4.1.4 Relationship of decomposing logging residues and developing ground	24
vegetation to nutrient leaching	24
4.1.5 Other processes	26
4.2 Decomposition in the clear-cut area compared to the uncut forest	26
4.3 Generalization of the results	27
5. CUNCLUSIONS	27
6. KEFEKENCES	28

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Decomposition of organic matter, mineral weathering, wet and dry deposition, nitrogen (N) fixation and root exudates are sources of nutrients in forest ecosystem (Likens and Bormann 1995). The nutrients can be taken up by vegetation, immobilized by microbes or retained in the soil by various adsorption processes such as ion exchange, complexation, precipitation and the formation of secondary minerals (Likens and Bormann 1995, White 1997). Nutrients can be lost from the system through leaching, gaseous emissions (i.e. volatilisation and denitrification) and biomass removal.

The annual deposition of nutrients and the rates of weathering and decomposition are low in Finnish forests compared to the values in central Europe (Järvinen and Vänni 1990, Berg et al. 1993, White and Blum 1995, Fisher and Binkley 2000, Hjellbrekke 2000, Ruoho-Airola et al. 2003). The input of N from biological fixation is reported to range from 0.3 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ to 3.8 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ in Fennoscandian coniferous forests (Granhall and Lindberg 1980, Rosén and Lindberg 1980). In undisturbed boreal forests, nutrients are effectively retained in the ecosystem, and leaching (Helmisaari and Mälkönen 1989, Piirainen et al. 1998, 2002a, Mattson et al. 2003, Finér et al. 2004) and gaseous losses (Paavolainen and Smolander 1998) are small. Forestry operations, especially clear-cutting, can cause considerable changes in nutrient pools and fluxes, however.

In Finland, 86 % of the land area is covered by forests and most of the forests are under timber production (Peltola 2004). The main tree species are Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.), Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) H. Karst.) and birch (*Betula pendula* Roth, *Betula pubescens* Ehrh.). Annually thinnings are carried out on 300 000 - 400 000 ha and clear-cuttings on 100 000 - 150 000 ha, which correspond to 2-3 % of the total forest area. The nutrient losses caused by biomass removal vary depending on the harvesting method, tree species and the specific nutrients involved (Mälkönen 1975, 1976). Clear-cuttings are mostly done by removing only the stems with bark and leaving the stumps, roots, branches and foliage, which are referred to as logging residues, on the site. Efforts to increase the use of renewable forms of energy may result in an increase in whole-tree harvesting in the future. The removal of logging residues may acidify the soil (Staaf and Olsson 1991) and decrease tree growth (Egnell and Valinger 2003), soil nutrient pools (Bengtsson and Wikström 1993, Olsson et al. 1996), and the amount of soil organic matter, which may subsequently affect the temperature conditions, water-holding capacity and nutrient retention in the soil (Jurgensen et al. 1997).

Leaving logging residues on the site greatly increases the amount of decomposable material in the soil. The amount of logging residues produced depends on the tree species and developmental stage of the tree stand. The dry mass of Norway spruce tree tops is two times greater than that of Scots pine of similar height and diameter (Hakkila 1991), and the amount of above-ground residues remaining on site is generally from two to three times greater after clear-cutting a mature stand than after thinning a young stand (Hynynen 2001). The nutrient input derived from logging residues is several times greater than that from the annual litterfall, which contains only a few percent of the total amount of nutrients in the trees (Mälkönen 1974, Helmisaari 1995). In general, about 75, 80, 70 and 60 % of the standing tree biomass pools of N, phosphorus (P), potassium (K) and calcium (Ca), respectively, remain on site as logging residues after clear-cutting a mature Norway spruce forest (Nykvist 1971, Mälkönen 1975, Kubin 1977).

Clear-cutting results in marked changes in nutrient fluxes. Decomposition can be accelerated after clear-cutting because the soil temperature and moisture are increased as the shading effect of trees, the interception of water by the canopy and water uptake by the trees are reduced (Lundin 1979, Kubin and Kemppainen 1991). Increased decomposition of organic layer has been observed after clear-cutting in several forest ecosystems (Covington 1981, Jurgensen et al. 1997, Martin et al. 2002). Clear-cutting has also been found to enhance mineralization in the organic layer in Finnish forest soils (Smolander et al. 2001), but it is not clear whether the conditions caused by clear-cutting accelerate the decomposition of fresh logging residues. The deposition of inorganic N to the forest floor may be greater after clearcutting because N is no longer retained in the canopy, whereas the deposition flux of carbon (C), K and Ca may decrease because leaching from the canopy ceases (Helmisaari and Mälkönen 1989, Piirainen et al. 2002b, 2004). The amounts of N fixed also probably change. Nitrogen fixation of feather mosses is lower in early than in late successional boreal forests (Zackrisson et al. 2004), but N fixation by bacteria living in decomposing wood (Granhall and Lindberg 1980, Jurgensen et al. 1984) may increase after clear-cutting because large amounts of woody debris are added to the soil. Nutrient uptake decreases because the trees are removed and the ground vegetation often at least partly dies as a result of clear-cutting (Atlegrim and Sjöberg 1996, Nykvist 1997).

Nutrient losses generally increase after clear-cutting. Clear-cutting may stimulate nitrification or denitrification, thus potentially increasing N losses to the atmosphere and the leaching of nitrate (NO_3^-) and base cations (Likens et al. 1969, Paavolainen and Smolander 1998). Furthermore, increased mineralization, reduced nutrient uptake and hydrological changes such as an elevated ground water table and increased water yield, runoff and peak flows increase the risk of nutrient leaching (Lundin 1979, Rosén 1984, Swank et al. 2001). Elevated C, N, P, K and Ca concentrations have been observed in soil solution (Nohrstedt et al. 1994, Smolander et al. 2001, Piirainen et al. 2002b, 2004) and in outlet streams (Grip 1982, Rosén et al. 1996, Ahtiainen and Huttunen 1999) after clear-cutting of boreal forests. Also NO₂ concentrations in groundwater have increased after clear-cutting (Kubin 1998, Rusanen et al. 2004). Leaching deteriorates water quality, causes eutrophication of surface waters, and may decrease site productivity (Ahtiainen and Huttunen 1999, Grigal 2000). The initiation, magnitude and duration of increased leaching vary somewhat according to the catchment properties (e.g. Wiklander 1981, Lepistö et al. 1995). Leaching is usually greatest during the first years after clear-cutting and it can take nearly ten years or even longer until the nutrient concentrations in ground and surface waters return to pre-cutting levels (Wiklander 1981, Rosén et al. 1996, Kubin 1998, Ahtiainen and Huttunen 1999). Leached nutrients may originate from logging residues, the organic layer and/or dead ground vegetation. Also increased N deposition due to reduced canopy uptake may increase N leaching. Logging residues are considered to be the main source of leached nutrients, but the release of nutrients may sometimes occur with a time delay and N especially has been observed even to accumulate in decomposing logging residues (Barber and Van Lear 1984, Fahey et al. 1988, Hyvönen et al. 2000, Ouro et al. 2001).

The developing ground vegetation may play an important role in nutrient retention before stand re-establishment (Emmett et al. 1991a, Fahey et al. 1991a, Kimmins et al. 2002). The vegetation reduces nutrient losses directly by taking up nutrients and, indirectly, by decreasing the volume of water percolating down through the soil and the availability of N for nitrification or denitrification (Gholz et al. 1985). Tree seedlings can also act as a nutrient sink, but the biomass of the ground vegetation is often higher than that of the tree seedlings during the early successional stages (Bergquist et al. 1999, Staples et al. 1999). More nutrients are also needed to produce the amount of ground vegetation dry matter equivalent to that of tree seedlings

(Mälkönen 1974). In general, pioneer species also have a better ability to absorb available nutrients from the soil than tree seedlings (Hangs et al. 2003, Nilsson and Örlander 2003).

Little is known about the decomposition and nutrient dynamics of logging residues, the responses of ground vegetation to clear-cutting and the capacity of the ground vegetation to retain nutrients in boreal areas although these processes largely determine the amount and duration of leaching. Furthermore, no studies have been carried out in boreal forests, in which the amounts of nutrients that are released from logging residues, stored in the ground vegetation and leached, would have been quantified simultaneously in the same site.

1.2 Factors affecting the decomposition rate

Decomposition means the degradation of organic matter, as a result of which water, heat and mineral nutrients are released and the majority of the C is returned back to the atmosphere as CO₂ (Swift et al. 1979). Part of the carbon and other nutrients can be released as dissolved organic forms (Vestgarden 2001, Hafner et al. 2005). In boreal forests, the decomposition process is mainly carried out by fungi and bacteria (Persson et al. 1980), which produce degrading enzymes (Killham 1994). Soil animals mix decomposable material into the soil, regulate the structure and functioning of microbial communities, and fragment organic matter into small particles thereby increasing the surface area for microbes to attack (Setälä et al. 1988, Killham 1994). Physical processes also play an important role in decomposition (Berg and McClaugherty 2003). Part of the nutrients and soluble constituents are released by mechanical leaching, and wet-dry, freeze-thaw and hot-cold cycles fragment the decomposable material.

Water-soluble substances (e.g. sugars, fatty acids and amino acids) are decomposed first, followed by hemicelluloses, cellulose and finally lignin and lignified compounds (Berg and McClaugherty 2003). Nutrients can be released at a rate that is proportional to the mass loss, or even more rapidly if nutrient availability does not limit microbial activity and if the decomposable material is subjected to intense fragmentation and mechanical leaching (Laskowski et al. 1995, Berg and McClaugherty 2003). On the other hand, the nutrients limiting microbial activity are effectively immobilized and the absolute amount of certain nutrients can even increase during decomposition (Berg and Staaf 1981, Edmonds 1987, Fahey et al. 1991b).

The decomposition rate is determined by environmental conditions, the chemical composition of the material and decomposer community (Swift et al. 1979, Berg and McClaugherty 2003). Temperature and moisture have been shown to be the most important environmental factors controlling the decomposition rate in Fennoscandian boreal forests (e.g. Jansson and Berg 1985).

High concentrations of nutrients and soluble substances, low carbon/nutrient ratios (e.g. C/N, C/P) and low lignin concentrations enhance decomposition (Melillo et al. 1982, Johansson 1994, Silver and Miya 2001, Berg and McClaugherty 2003). The chemical composition differs between tree species and between foliage, root and wood material (Voipio and Laakso 1992, Johansson 1995, Berg and McClaugherty 2003). The decomposition of Scots pine, Norway spruce and silver birch foliage litter has been studied relatively extensively in Fennoscandian forests but less is known about the decomposition of the roots and branches of these species (Berg and McClaugherty 2003). Logging residues can decompose faster than litter (Lundmark-Thelin and Johansson 1997) because logging residues probably contain higher concentrations of nutrients than naturally formed litter due to that nutrients are translocated from dying parts to growing tissues before litter shedding (Helmisaari 1992). The decomposition

and nutrient dynamics of the logging residues of the main tree species have so far been investigated only in a few studies in Fennoscandia (Staaf and Berg 1980, Lundmark-Thelin and Johansson 1997, Hyvönen et al. 2000).

Fine logging residues including foliage, fine roots and small branches are the probable source of leached nutrients soon after cutting because they are the most nutrient-rich parts of the trees (Mälkönen 1974, Kubin 1977) and decompose faster than coarse residues, i.e. stumps, coarse roots and thick branches (Fahey et al. 1988, Hyvönen et al. 2000). The decomposition of coarse residues takes several years or decades because their low concentrations of nutrients and soluble sugars, high C/N and C/P ratios, high lignin concentration and the small surface area to volume ratio associated with large diameter make them resistant to decomposition (Barber and Van Lear 1984, Mattson et al. 1987, Fahey et al. 1991b, Hyvönen et al. 2000, Berg and McClaugherty 2003).

The altered microclimate may have an effect on the decomposition rate after clear-cutting. The average air and soil temperatures are generally higher in the clear-cut area than in the forest because the amount of incoming solar radiation increases because there is no longer a canopy to absorb, emit and reflect radiant energy (Kubin and Kemppainen 1991, Keenan and Kimmins 1993). Removal of the tree canopy does not only increase the flux of net radiative heat transfer from the atmosphere to the soil during the day, but also increases the upward emission of long-wave thermal radiation from the vegetation and soil to the atmosphere at night (Hornbeck 1970). Therefore, the diurnal variation in temperatures is greater in the open area than in the forest (Kubin and Kemppainen 1991). The decreased interception increases the depth of the snow cover in clear-cut areas (Poikolainen and Kubin 1985) which, in turn, may increase soil temperatures and the wintertime decomposition rate. Soil moisture also can be higher in clear-cut areas than in forest because of the decreased interception and transpiration (Lundin 1979). On the other hand, the fluctuations of soil moisture are increased after clearcutting and the organic layer and upper mineral soil can be temporarily drier in clear-cut areas than in undisturbed forest due to the increased evaporation caused by higher soil temperatures and wind speeds (Bååth 1980, Schwendenmann 2000, Redding et al. 2003). The environmental conditions in clear-cut areas may thus periodically be unfavourable to decomposers. Clearcutting has been observed to change the decomposer community structure and decrease microbial biomass and enzyme activity, which may affect the decomposition rate (Huhta 1976, Niemelä and Sundman 1977, Bååth 1980, Siira-Pietikäinen et al. 2001, Hassett and Zak 2005).

It has generally been believed that increased temperature and moisture following clearcutting accelerate decomposition (e.g. Witkamp 1971). However, decomposition rates have been reported to be faster (Klemmedson et al. 1985, Prescott et al. 1993), slower (Abbott and Crossley 1982, Blair and Crossley 1988, Yin et al. 1989, Cortina and Vallejo 1994, Prescott 1997) or the same (Will et al. 1983, Johansson and Grälls 1989, Hope et al. 2003) in clear-cut areas compared to undisturbed forest. Apparently the effects of clear-cutting on decomposition vary depending on the regional climatic variables, site properties and decomposable material (Kim et al. 1996, Moorhead et al. 1999, Prescott 2000). Furthermore, clear-cutting may have a different impact on the decomposition of foliage and branches than of roots because decomposition has been found to be slower at the soil surface but faster below the organic horizon in clear-cut areas than in the forest (Binkley 1984). The lack of knowledge about the effects of clear-cutting on the decomposition rate in boreal forests has restricted the development of accurate simulation models concerning the effects of harvesting on soil C storage (Liski et al. 1998).

1.3 Development of ground vegetation after clear-cutting

The ground vegetation plays an important role in the nutrient cycle of boreal forests because it consumes more nutrients per unit dry matter produced than the trees and accounts for a significant proportion of the annual stand litterfall (Mälkönen 1974, Helmisaari 1995). The importance of ground vegetation is emphasized after clear-cutting because it becomes the major living vegetation component when the trees are removed. Nutrient leaching has been shown to be considerably higher from clear-cut areas, that are treated with herbicides than from similar sites with intact vegetation (Likens et al. 1970), and the nutrient concentrations in the soil solution following harvesting have decreased concurrently with vegetation development (Stevens and Hornung 1990, Emmett et al. 1991b, Staaf and Olsson 1994, Örlander et al. 1996). The significance of the ground vegetation in nutrient retention after clear-cutting has mostly been studied in temperate forests (Likens et al. 1970, Stevens and Hornung 1990, Emmett et al. 1991a, Fahey et al. 1991a, Mou et al. 1993, Kimmins et al. 2002). In boreal forests, the biomass and nutrient pools of the ground vegetation following clear-cutting have been seldom reported because the effects have generally been studied from the species diversity viewpoint and the responses are described by changes in coverage, frequency and species number (Bråkenhielm and Liu 1998, Bergstedt and Milberg 2001, Jalonen and Vanha-Majamaa 2001). The few Fennoscandian studies that have followed changes in biomass (Olsson and Staaf 1995, Nykvist 1997) and nutrient pools (Nykvist 1977, Nilsson and Örlander 1999) of the ground vegetation after clear-cutting have not considered the below-ground parts, despite the fact that the majority of the ground vegetation biomass is in the roots (Havas and Kubin 1983).

The success and growth of the vegetation depends on many environmental factors and the optimum and tolerance ranges vary between species (Tamm 1953, Busby et al. 1978, Kellomäki and Hari 1976, Kellomäki et al. 1977). The availability of water and nutrients directly affects growth, whereas the effects of temperature and light takes place through their effects on the physiological processes. Temperature also affects indirectly by regulating the availability of water and nutrients. The tree stand, soil type, soil nutrient status, topography, elevation and latitude regulate the availability of these resources and largely determine the composition of the vegetation (Nieppola and Carleton 1991, Pitkänen 1997, Reinikainen et al. 2000).

Removal of the tree stand changes light conditions, microclimate and the availability of nutrients, which affect the biomass and species composition of the ground vegetation and ultimately nutrient uptake and retention. The responses of the ground vegetation depend on the site fertility and the intensity and timing of harvesting, vegetation changes being greatest and fastest in the most fertile sites (Salemaa and Jukola-Sulonen 1998). Furthermore, clear-cutting has a greater effect than other felling methods (Atlegrim and Sjöberg 1996, Bergstedt and Milberg 2001, Jalonen and Vanha-Majamaa 2001), and summer harvesting more of an impact than winter harvesting (Berger et al. 2004). Damage to the vegetation caused by the logging machinery and falling trees during logging operation, death of propagule sources, i.e. seeds, spores, seedlings, rootstocks and rhizomes (Jonsson 1993, Qi and Scarratt 1998), the disruption and compaction of the soil, altered microclimate (Keenan and Kimmins 1993) and covering by logging residues (Stevens and Hornung 1990, Fahey et al. 1991a, Olsson and Staaf 1995) can all have detrimental effects on the ground vegetation.

The coverage of feather mosses (*Pleurozium schreberi* Brid. and *Hylocomium splendens* (Hedw.) B. S. & G.) and ericaceous dwarf shrubs (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L. and *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* L.), that are the dominant ground vegetation species in Finnish forests (Reinikainen et al. 2000), has been shown to decrease considerably after clear-cutting (Atlegrim and Sjöberg 1996, Hannerz and Hånell 1997, Jalonen and Vanha-Majamaa 2001, Bergsted and Milberg

2001, Bock and Van Rees 2002, Fenton et al. 2003). These species are adapted to grow in shade and relatively constant moisture conditions, and they may suffer from the increased intensity of light, high near-ground temperatures, episodic drought and decreased air humidity in clear-cut areas (Tamm 1953, Kellomäki and Hari 1976, Kellomäki et al. 1977, Busby et al. 1978). In contrast, the coverage of grasses and herbs generally increases after clear-cutting (Reinikainen et al. 2000) and especially *Deschampsia flexuosa* (L.) Trin. and *Epilobium angustifolium* L. become abundant (Bergquist et al. 1999, Bergstedt and Milberg 2001) because they benefit from increased light and nutrient availability (Foggo 1989, Broderick 1990). Pioneer species in general can store nutrients effectively due to their rapid growth rate and high demand for nutrients (Marks and Bormann 1972, Boring et al. 1981, Kimmins et al. 2002). Little is known about how much nutrients are stored in the ground vegetation after clear-cutting in boreal forests, how rapidly suffering species will recover, or how different species contribute to nutrient retention.

1.4 Aims and hypotheses of the study

The main aim of this thesis was to study the role of decomposing logging residues and developing ground vegetation in nutrient dynamics after clear-cutting. The main hypotheses were that logging residues are a source of leached C, P, K and Ca during the first three years after clear-cutting and that the ground vegetation, especially pioneer species, play an important role in nutrient retention after clear-cutting. Because logging residues were known to have relatively high C/N ratios (Finér et al. 2003), N was expected at least initially to be immobilized in logging residues.

More specifically, the aims were:

- 1. to determine how much C, N, P, K and Ca are released from Norway spruce, Scots pine and silver birch logging residues (fine roots, foliage and small branches) during the first three years after clear-cutting of a Norway spruce dominated, mixed boreal forest in eastern Finland (I, II),
- 2. to study whether the decomposition is faster in a clear-cut area than in a mature forest (I, II),
- 3. to investigate the above- and below-ground biomass and nutrient pools of the ground vegetation during the first five years after clear-cutting (III),
- 4. to study the responses of the main ground vegetation species to clear-cutting during the first seven years (IV)
- 5. to assess the significance of ground vegetation in the retention of nutrients after clearcutting (III, IV), and
- 6. to compare the amounts of nutrients that are released from logging residues to the amounts of nutrients that are simultaneously stored in the ground vegetation, leached and derived from deposition. The effect of logging residues removal on site nutrient status is also discussed.

This study is a part of the VALU-research project studying the effects of clear-cutting on water and nutrient fluxes in a boreal forest (Finér et al. 1997).

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study site

Three permanent plots (50 m x 50 m) were established in a mixed coniferous forest located in the Kangasvaara catchment in eastern Finland (63° 51' N, 28° 58' E, 220 m a.s.l.). The site type was *Vaccinium-myrtillus*-type according to the Finnish site type classification (Cajander 1949). The average age of the stand in the three study plots was 140 years, and the stem volume was 260 m³ ha⁻¹, of which 53 % was Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) H. Karst.), 33 % Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and 14 % deciduous trees (mainly white and silver birch, *Betula pubescens* Ehrh., *B. pendula* Roth and some European aspen, *Populus tremula* L.). The number of stems per hectare (height > 1.3 m) was 1433, of which 75 % was spruce, 8 % pine and 17 % deciduous trees. The field layer vegetation was dominated by dwarf shrubs (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L. and *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* L.) and the bottom layer by feather mosses (*Pleurozium schreberi* Brid. and *Hylocomium splendens* (Hedw.) B. S. & G.) (III). The soil type was a Haplic podzol (FAO 1988) and the texture type sandy till. The average depths of the organic (O), eluvial (E) and illuvial (B) horizons were 3, 12 and 35 cm, respectively. The stone content (> 20 mm) of the upper 0.3 m layer of the soil, determined by the steel rod penetration method of Viro (see Tamminen and Starr 1994), was 0.28 m³ m⁻³. The underlying bedrock is granodiorite.

Clear-cutting (8.3 ha) was carried out in August-October 1996 with a mechanical harvester. Merchantable-sized (diameter > 8 cm) stems with bark were removed and the logging residues (stumps, roots, branches and foliage) were left on the site. Two of the plots were situated in the clear-cut area, whereas the third plot was left uncut to serve as a control. The clear-cut plots were located some 100 m from the forest edge and the uncut plot some 70 m from the clear-cut edge.

Automatic weather stations (CR 10, Campbell Scientific Ltd., UK) were set up in the uncut forest and clear-cut area close to the plots for continuous recording of air temperatures. Precipitation in the clear-cut area and stand throughfall in the uncut forest were collected using permanently open collectors (Piirainen et al. 2002a). The mean annual air temperature recorded in the uncut plot averaged 1.7 °C and throughfall 484 mm during 1996-2003. In the clear-cut area the mean annual air temperature averaged 2.0 °C during 1996-2003 and the bulk precipitation 546 mm. The average length of the growing season was 143 days and the effective temperature sum 1037 °C (the sum of (T_d - 5), where T_d is daily mean temperature exceeding + 5 °C during the growing season). The long-term (1960-1990) mean annual temperature for the area is 1.4 °C, temperature sum 1055 °C and precipitation 540 mm (Climatological Statistics...1991).

The nutrient pools of the tree stand and soil before clear-cutting (Piirainen 2002, Finér et al. 2003) and nutrient fluxes including deposition, litterfall and leaching below the O-, E-, and B- horizons both before and after clear-cutting (Piirainen et al. 1998, Piirainen 2002, Piirainen et al. 2002a, 2002b, 2004) have been determined in this same study site. A detailed description of the study area is presented by Finér et al. (1997).

2.2 Decomposition experiment

Decomposition of Norway spruce, Scots pine and silver birch fine roots (diameter ≤ 2 mm), branches (diameter ≤ 10 mm) and foliage (I, II) was determined by measuring the mass loss

with the litterbag method. The samples were air-dried (20 °C) and 2 g of spruce and pine needles, 0.5 g of birch leaves, 1 g of roots and 5 g of branches, was placed in separate nylon bags (mesh size 0.5×0.5 mm for spruce needles and 1×1 mm for other fractions).

One objective was to test whether clear-cutting increases the decomposition rate. Due to the important effect of substrate chemical composition on the decomposition rate, logging residues were used as a standard material and they were also placed in the uncut forest. Ten experimental blocks (2 m x 2 m) were established in the forest plot and in one clear-cut plot. Six bags of each logging residue fraction were randomly placed about 20 cm apart within each block. The bags containing foliage and branches were placed to the surface of the forest floor, whereas those containing roots were buried under the organic layer. The experiment started on 4-5 June 1997 and the retrieval of the bags took place annually on 4-5 June for three successive years. On each sampling occasion two randomly chosen bags of each logging residue fraction from each of the 10 blocks per plot were retrieved. The exterior of the litterbags was carefully cleaned with a brush, any roots growing into the bags were removed, the bags were air-dried (20 °C), weighed and subsamples were taken for dry mass determination (105 °C for 24 h).

2.3 Sampling the ground vegetation

Ground vegetation biomass sampling was carried out in mid-July during 1996-2003 on all three plots. Mosses, field layer and roots (III) were sampled in the uncut plot during 1996-2001 and in the clear-cut plots one year before (1996) and five years after clear-cutting (1997-2001). The field layer included dwarf shrubs, grasses, herbs and tree seedlings up to a height of 0.5 m. The different moss and field layer species (IV) were sampled in the uncut plot during 1996-2003 and in the clear-cut plots one year before (1996) and seven years after clear-cutting (1997-2003).

The above-ground parts of the ground vegetation were harvested each year from 20 quadrats (0.5 m x 0.5 m) located systematically along the sides of each of the plots. The biomass of roots and rhizomes (later included in the term roots) was determined by coring (III). Cylindrical cores from the organic horizon (core diameter 137 mm) and from the upper mineral soil layer (core diameter 35 mm) from depths of 0-5 cm and 5-20 cm were systematically taken from each quadrat after sampling the above-ground parts of the vegetation. The sampling depth did not exceed 20 cm because the majority of the roots of the ground vegetation and trees occur in the organic layer and the upper mineral soil (e.g. Makkonen and Helmisaari 1998, Helmisaari and Hallbäcken 1999). The samples were put into plastic bags and stored in a freezer (-18 °C) until further preparation.

In the laboratory, the ground vegetation was divided into three compartments: mosses, field layer and roots. Only living parts were included in the study.

Mosses were further separated into four species groups: 1) *Pleurozium schreberi* Brid., 2) *Hylocomium splendens* (Hedw.) B. S. & G., 3) *Dicranum* sp., and 4) other species. The group of other species consisted mainly of *Polytrichum commune* Hedw., *Ptilium crista-castrensis* Hedw. and *Aulacomnium palustre* (Hedw.) Schwaegr.

The field layer was separated into five species groups: 1) *Vaccinium myrtillus* L., 2) *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* L., 3) *Deschampsia flexuosa* (L.) Trin., 4) *Epilobium angustifolium* L., and 5) other species. Other species were mainly *Melampyrum pratense* L., *Linnaea borealis* L., *Rubus saxatilis* L., *Convallaria majalis* L., *Solidago virgaurea* L., and tree seedlings (*Juniperus communis* L., *Picea abies* (L.) H. Karst. and *Sorbus aucuparia* L.).

The ground vegetation roots were separated from the soil cores by hand, mineral particles

attached to the roots were removed with a brush, and the roots were divided into three diameter classes: < 1 mm, 1-2 mm and 2-5 mm. The roots of the ground vegetation were separated from the trees roots on the basis of their morphology and colour.

The samples were dried in ventilated ovens (60 °C, 24 h) and weighed. Subsamples were taken for dry mass determination (at 105 °C, 24 h) and the biomass was calculated as kg ha⁻¹. Stoniness was taken into account in the root biomass calculations.

2.4 Nutrient analyses

The contents of the litterbags and ground vegetation samples were milled before nutrient analyses. Nitrogen concentrations were determined from a micro-Kjeldahl digestion (ISO 7150/1 1984) with a spectrophotometer (Perkin-Elmer Lambda 11), and the concentrations of P, K and Ca were determined from a HNO_3 - H_2O_2 digestion (Halonen et al. 1983) by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectrophotometer (ARL 3580 OES). Carbon concentrations were determined from the logging residues using a CHN-analyzer (Carlo-Erba NA 1500). The C concentration of the ground vegetation was assumed to be 50 % of dry mass.

2.5 Calculations and statistical analyses

The biomass of different tree compartments (kg ha⁻¹) was estimated by using allometric functions. The breast height diameter, height and crown length of all living trees (height > 1.3 m) on the three study plots were measured in September 1992 and again in July-August 1996 (Finér et al. 2003). Based on the distribution of breast height diameter values, sample trees were felled in connection with clear-cutting on the two clear-cut plots. The biomass of stem wood, stem bark, foliage and branches (kg ha⁻¹) was estimated by applying allometric functions developed by Finér et al. (2003). The stump and coarse root biomass of pine and spruce were calculated using the allometric functions presented by Marklund (1988) and those of birch with functions presented by Finér et al. 2003). Derivation of the allometric biomass functions and calculation of biomass components at the stand-level are described in detail by Finér (1989) and Finér et al. (2003).

Nutrient amounts in the different tree compartments and ground vegetation were calculated by multiplying the dry masses by the corresponding nutrient concentrations. The results from the litterbag study (i.e. remaining dry mass and the amount of nutrients as % of initial) were used to calculate the mass loss and release of nutrients from logging residues at the stand level (kg ha⁻¹).

Since there were no replicates at the treatment level (clear-cut and uncut forest), statistically any differences between the clear-cut and forested plot cannot be attributed to the effects of clear-cutting alone because inherent differences between the locations on which the plots were established can confound treatment effects (Hurlbert 1984). Taking into consideration that before clear-cutting site type, tree stand (Finér et al. 2003), ground vegetation (III) soil properties (Piirainen et al. 2002a, 2002b, 2004) and climate conditions (III) were similar at the plots before clear-cutting it is very probable that the observed differences are treatment caused effects rather than pre-existing differences among study plots. The differences between the plots were thus considered to be mainly due to clear-cutting.

Differences in the decomposition of logging residues and the biomass of ground vegetation

between the plots were tested by a linear mixed model procedure, which takes into account the dependence (i.e. temporal and spatial correlation) between different observations (Littell et al. 1996). The model in the logging residue studies was (I, II):

$$y_{iikl} = m + A_i + B_k + (AB)_{ik} + C_l + (BC)_{kl} + (ABC)_{ikl} + D_{ik} + (AD)_{iik} + e_{iikl}$$
(1)

where y_{ijkl} is the remaining mass or nutrient content as % of initial amount, m the overall mean, A_i is the fixed effect of logging residue fraction (i.e. foliage, roots and branches of different species) i = 1, ..., 9, B_k = the fixed effect of plot k = 1, 2 (i.e. treatment), $(AB)_{ik}$ = the fixed effect of interaction between logging residue fraction and plot, C_1 = the fixed effect of year l = 1, ..., 4, $(BC)_{kl}$ = the fixed effect of interaction between logging residue fraction, plot and year, $(ABC)_{ikl}$ = the fixed effect of block j on the plot k, $(AD)_{ijk}$ = the random effect of interaction between logging residue fraction and year, D_{jk} = the random effect of block j on the plot and e_{ijkl} = the random error.

Following model was used in the ground vegetation studies (III, IV):

$$y_{ii} = m + A_i + B_i + (AB)_{ii} + e_{ii}$$
 (2)

Where y_{ij} = is biomass, m the overall mean, A_i the fixed effect of plot i = 1, 2, 3, B_j = the fixed effect of year j = 1,...6 (III) and j = 1,...8 (IV), (AB)_{ij} = the fixed effect of interaction between plot and year and e_{ij} = the random error.

The Bonferroni test was used to determine statistical significance for multiple comparisons in all the analyses. Statistical analyses of decomposition experiment (I, II) were performed with SAS (SAS® for Windows 6.12, 1997), and of the ground vegetation data (III, IV) with SPSS (SPSS for Windows, Version 12.0, SPSS 2002).

3. RESULTS

3.1 Decomposition of logging residues

Among the fine logging residue fractions studied, foliage decomposed the fastest, followed by fine roots and branches (Table 1). The mass loss of foliage differed significantly (p < 0.001) between all tree species. Pine and birch roots decomposed faster (p < 0.001) than spruce roots, but the difference between pine and birch roots was not significant. Pine branches decomposed faster (p < 0.001) than spruce and birch branches.

The release of C followed the mass loss. Nitrogen accumulated in the pine and birch roots and conifer branches during decomposition but released from other fractions. Phosphorus was relatively rapidly released from all logging residue fractions, except from pine branches. The majority of K was released, and most of it already during the first year (II). Calcium was released from roots and foliage but accumulated in branches.

In total, 33 % of the dry mass and C, 49 % of P, 90 % of K and 8 % of Ca was released in three years (I, II). There was no net release of N because more N accumulated in the roots and branches than was released from the foliage. Foliage contained the greatest amounts of N, P, and K, whereas branches contained most of the C and Ca. The majority of the released nutrients originated from the foliage.

Fraction	Mass	С	Ν		Р	К	Са
Foliage							
Pine	35.4 (2.6)	34.9 (2.5)	91.6	(7.6)	48.2 (3.5)	6.1 (0.7)	40.8 (3.6)
Spruce	60.2 (2.3)	54.3 (2.0)	99.8	(3.5)	35.5 (2.6)	7.5 (0.6)	84.5 (3.6)
Birch	11.2 (2.8)	11.0 (2.8)	17.1	(6.6)	7.6 (2.5)	1.3 (0.4)	4.8 (1.5)
Roots							
Pine	48.4 (3.4)	54.4 (3.9)	127.0	(11.8)	77.6 (5.7)	9.1 (1.5)	57.7 (7.1)
Spruce	69.8 (2.3)	73.9 (2.7)	81.1	(14.7)	74.2 (5.3)	15.6 (1.8)	58.2 (8.0)
Birch	54.7 (2.9)	60.8 (3.5)	117.0	(9.2)	55.1 (3.9)	14.6 (1.7)	49.3 (6.9)
Branches							
Pine	70.2 (1.1)	74.4 (1.3)	162.9	(15.1)	106.9 (6.4)	11.4 (1.7)	111.5 (4.9)
Spruce	79.6 (1.1)	80.9 (1.4)	119.1	(8.6)	60.8 (4.2)	14.3 (1.7)	117.9 (7.6)
Birch	82.8 (1.2)	86.6 (1.2)	92.1	(8.9)	42.8 (2.2)	14.8 (0.8)	105.4 (4.3)

Table 1. Remaining mass and the amount of carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium and calcium in different logging residue fractions as % of the initial amount after three years of decomposition at the clear-cut plot (mean \pm SE, n = 10).

In general, mass loss was relatively similar in the clear-cut plot than in the uncut plot or even significantly slower, in the case of spruce needles and birch roots (I). Birch leaves were the only fraction that decomposed faster in the clear-cut plot than in the forest plot. However, the release of some nutrients were accelerated in the clear-cut plot: C was released significantly faster from birch leaves (I), Ca from pine and spruce roots and K from foliage and branches of all tree species (II) in the clear-cut plot than in the forest plot.

3.2 Changes in the biomass and nutrient pools of the ground vegetation after clearcutting

The biomass of the ground vegetation was 5307 kg ha⁻¹ before clear-cutting and contained 46.9 kg N ha⁻¹, 4.1 kg P ha⁻¹, 16.2 kg K ha⁻¹ and 13.9 kg Ca ha⁻¹ (III). The biomass and nutrient pools first clearly decreased after clear-cutting, being lowest in the second year, the biomass decreasing by 46-65 % in the cut plots. The nutrient pools decreased as follows: N 54-72 %, P 36-68 %, K 51-71 % and Ca 57-74 %. Mosses were at first virtually eliminated after clear-cutting (> 90 % decrease in biomass) and their biomass remained significantly lower (p < 0.01) in the clear-cut plots than in the uncut plot throughout the whole seven-year period (III, IV). Especially feather mosses, that were dominant species in the mature forest, suffered from clear-cutting. *P. schreberi* recovered within five years, but the biomass of *H. splendens* was still significantly lower (p < 0.01) in the clear-cut plots than in the uncut plots than in the uncut plot seven years after clear-cutting.

Also the field layer biomass decreased initially after clear-cutting because the biomass of *V. myrtillus* and *V. vitis-idaea*, that were dominant species in the uncut forest, declined. The biomass of *V. vitis-idaea* returned to the pre-cutting level in three years and that of *V. myrtillus* in four years. The biomass of *D. flexuosa* increased considerably after clear-cutting and *E. angustifolium* dispersed to the clear-cut plots 3-5 years after clear-cutting. Consequently, the field layer biomass returned to the initial level in three years and increased more than two-fold thereafter (III, IV).

A considerable proportion (> 70 %) of the field layer biomass was in the roots. After clear-

cutting the root biomass decreased somewhat, the roots became more concentrated in the organic layer and more biomass was accumulated in the above- than below-ground parts.

Total biomass and nutrient pools of the ground vegetation returned to the pre-cutting level in five years and the pools of P and K became even larger. *D. flexuosa* and *E. angustifolium* contributed to nutrient retention due not only to their biomasses but also because of their high nutrient concentrations. *E. angustifolium* had higher concentrations of all the studied elements compared to the dwarf shrubs; the concentrations of N, P and K were 2-3 times higher (IV). *D. flexuosa* also had higher P and K concentrations than dwarf shrubs, but N concentrations were similar and Ca concentrations considerably lower. The importance of mosses as a nutrient sink decreased after clear-cutting but *V. myrtillus*, although reduced after cutting, maintained a relatively high proportion of the ground vegetation biomass and nutrient contents.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Logging residues and ground vegetation in nutrient dynamics of a clear-cut area

4.1.1 Nutrient pools and fluxes before clear-cutting

The biomass and nutrient pools of the ground vegetation before clear-cutting (Figure 1) were within the range reported for Norway spruce and Scots pine dominated forests in Fennoscandia (Mälkönen 1974, Nykvist 1977, Havas and Kubin 1983, Mäkipää 1994, Helmisaari 1995, Makkonen and Helmisaari 2001). The C, N, P, K and Ca pools of the ground vegetation were relatively small (≤ 2 %) compared to total ecosystem pools (soil + tree stand + ground vegetation). The annual deposition of nutrients in the study site was typical for this region and, as usual, low in comparison to levels in central Europe and southern Finland (Järvinen and Vänni 1990, Hjellbrekke 2000, Ruoho-Airola et al. 2003). Nutrient pools in the soil, the amount of nutrients in litterfall and nutrient leaching corresponded to values reported for coniferous forests in Fennoscandia (Helmisaari and Mälkönen 1989, Helmisaari 1995, Liski and Westman 1995, Olsson et al. 1996, Ilvesniemi et al. 2002).

4.1.2 Nutrient content and decomposition of logging residues

More biomass and C were removed from the site with stems and bark than was left on the site in the form of logging residues (Figure 2). A relatively large proportion of C (40 %) and most of the N (76 %), P (82 %), K (96 %) and Ca (60 %) that was bound in the tree biomass remained on the site in the logging residues. The nutrient input caused by logging residues was enormous compared to the annual litterfall in the uncut forest (Figure 1). The amount of C in the logging residues was 45-fold and that of other nutrients about 20- to 30-fold compared to the annual litterfall in the forest before clear-cutting. The amounts of C, N, P, K and Ca in logging residues (coarse and fine) corresponded to 94 %, 18 %, 6 %, 26 % and 17 %, respectively, of the corresponding amounts in the soil (Figures 1 and 2). The removal of logging residues would thus substantially reduce the N, K and Ca stocks at the site. Compared to the soil available pools, logging residues contained only slightly more P but about two times that much K and Ca than the soil.

Deposition alone can compensate for the losses of N, P and K caused by stem harvesting during a 100-year rotation but is insufficient to compensate for the Ca losses in this study site



Figure 1. The amount of C, N, P, K and Ca (kg ha⁻¹) in the above- and below-ground parts of the trees and ground vegetation (Paper III) and in the soil to a depth of 35 cm (Piirainen 2002), and inputs (kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹) from litterfall and from bulk and total throughfall deposition (throughfall and stemflow) and output (kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹) through leaching before clear-cutting (Piirainen et al. 1998, Piirainen 2002, Piirainen et al. 2002a). The term leaching is used to mean the output of solutes in the percolate from below a soil horizon which exceeds the input to that horizon (O-, E- and B-horizons). Nutrient fluxes are average values for the years 1993-1996. Soil C and N concentrations were determined using a LECO CNH-600 analyser, soil P, K and Ca from the O-horizon from a HNO₃-H₂O₂ digest, and from the E- and B-horizons from an *Aqua regia* (HNO₃+HCI) digest by ICP emission spectrometry (TJA Iris Advantage), and soil available P, K and Ca pools (kg ha⁻¹, presented in parenthesis) from a NH₄Ac (pH 4.65) extraction by flame atomic absorption spectrometry (Perkin Elmer 5000).



Figure 2. Dry mass and the amount of C, N, P, K, and Ca (kg ha⁻¹) in the removed stems and bark and in the fine and coarse logging residues. The fine residues include foliage, roots (diameter ≤ 2 mm) and branches (diameter ≤ 1 cm) and the coarse residues stumps, coarse roots (diameter > 2 mm) and branches (diameter > 1 cm).

(Figures 2 and 3). Whole-tree harvesting (the removal of above-ground parts) would have lead to 1.3, 2.8, 3.5, 2.3 and 1.9 times greater C, N, P, K and Ca losses, respectively, compared to stem only harvesting. This is in agreement with the findings of Mälkönen (1975, 1976) that, among the macronutrients, the loss of P is proportionally greatest in pine and spruce forests when whole-tree harvesting is compared to stem only harvesting. Complete-tree harvesting (the removal of above-ground parts, stumps and coarse roots) would have removed 1.6, 3.9, 5.0, 3.1 and 2.5 times more C, N, P, K, and Ca, respectively, than stem only clear-cutting. The loss of N caused by complete-tree harvesting (371.0 kg ha⁻¹) and whole-tree harvesting (267.3 kg ha⁻¹) exceeds the replacement from the atmosphere during a 100-year rotation (250 kg ha⁻¹) at this site (calculation based on the average N deposition for the years 1997-1999). If the foliage is left on the site and only stems and branches are removed, deposition could replace the N losses (186.6 kg ha⁻¹). Leaving the foliage at the site and the N input from deposition are, however, not sufficient to replace the nutrient losses caused by removal of the stems, branches, stumps and coarse roots (290.3 kg ha⁻¹). Removal of logging residues may thus results in an appreciable loss of N from the ecosystem. In reality, the nutrient losses would not probably be so great because, in practice, about 60-80 % of the crown mass is usually removed in wholetree harvesting (Hakkila 2002). In order to obtain better estimates of the N replacement after harvesting, the input from N fixation should be known.

The observed mass losses (I) were comparable to those reported for Scots pine and Norway spruce needles and branches after 3-4 years following clear-cutting in Sweden (Lundmark-Thelin and Johansson 1997, Hyvönen et al. 2000). The mass losses of roots were also close to the values reported earlier for root litters of the studied species (Berg 1984, Johansson 1984, Lõhmus and Ivask 1995). The differences in mass loss between fractions (foliage, roots, branches) and between species (pine, spruce and birch) can be attributed to differences in their



Figure 3. Bulk deposition and leaching of nutrients (kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹) below O-, E-, and B-horizons in the first, second and third year after clear-cutting, and total leaching and deposition during three years (Piirainen 2002, Piirainen et al. 2002b, 2004). Changes in the dry mass and nutrient contents of logging residues and ground vegetation (kg ha⁻¹), and the amount of leaching (kg ha⁻¹) in the first, second and third year after clear-cutting compared to the previous-year values (minus signs indicate a decrease and plus signs an increase). Total amount of released (-) or accumulated (+) nutrients in logging residues during three years compared to the initial amount and the biomass and nutrient pools of ground vegetation compared to the pre-cutting values three years after clear-cutting.

chemical composition and physical structure (I, II, Mikola 1954, Johansson 1984, Voipio and Laakso 1992, Berg and McClaugherty 2003).

There was no net release of N from logging residues during the first year after clear-cutting (Figure 3). A small release occurred during the second year, but N again accumulated in the third year. The mass loss and the release of C, P and K from logging residues were the greatest during the first year. The net release of Ca did not occur until the third year. Although the release of Ca occurred in the second year, the amount of Ca in the logging residues was still higher than the initial amount because external Ca accumulated in the first year.

The accumulation of N and Ca in logging residues, especially in branches, has been observed in several studies (Barber and Van Lear 1984, Fahey et al. 1991b, Carlyle et al. 1998, Hyvönen et al. 2000, Ouro et al. 2001). Accumulation indicates that nutrient concentrations in the decomposing material were below the requirements of decomposers (Berg and Staaf 1981). Isotope experiments have indicated that, at the same time as nutrients are released, external nutrients are incorporated into the decomposing litter (Berg 1988, Lindahl et al. 2001). Basically the increase in nutrient content may be due to the presence of fungal hyphae, but experiments have shown that the fungal biomass alone is not great enough to explain the observed increase in nutrients (Berg and Söderström 1979, Fahey 1983). The translocation of nutrients into decomposing material from the forest floor by fungal hyphae (Chadwick et al. 1998, Lindahl et al. 2001), N fixation (Granhall and Lindberg 1980, Jurgensen et al. 1984) and the nutrient supply from wet and dry deposition (Rosén and Lundmark-Thelin 1987, Emmett et al. 1991b) may have increased the nutrient content in logging residues.

Carbon is a structural component of plants and its release is closely related to mass loss (Berg and McClaugherty 2003), whereas P and especially K are generally rapidly released from finest logging residue fractions (Staaf and Berg 1980, Lundmark-Thelin and Johansson 1997, Hyvönen et al. 2000). In general, 80-90 % of the K has been found to be released from conifer logging residues already during the first year after clear-cutting (Barber and Van Lear 1984, Fahey et al. 1988, Fahey et al. 1991b, Titus and Malcolm 1999). The rapid release of K is largely due to that it presents in plants as water-soluble salts (Salisbury and Ross 1985) and thus easily released by leaching without microbial activity (Tukey 1970, Laskowski et al. 1995).

In Finnish forest soils, weathering is estimated to release about 0.02, 1.0 and 3.0 kg ha⁻¹ a⁻¹ of P, K and Ca, respectively (Starr et al. 1998, Fisher and Binkley 2000). It can therefore be assumed that a considerably larger amount of P and K, but probably a slightly smaller amount of Ca, was released from logging residues in the three years (Figure 3) compared to the inputs received from deposition and weathering during this period.

4.1.3 Development of ground vegetation and its role in the retention of nutrients after clear-cutting

In addition to logging residues, dead ground vegetation increased the amount of decomposable material in the soil. The amount of nutrients stored in the ground vegetation decreased during the first two years after cutting as follows: 1505.5 kg ha⁻¹ for C, 31.0 kg ha⁻¹ for N, 2.4 kg ha⁻¹ for P, 11.1 kg ha⁻¹ for K and 9.7 kg ha⁻¹ for Ca. This nutrient input was small (≤ 10 %) compared to the amounts of nutrients that were added to the soil in coarse and fine logging residues, but corresponded to 20 % of the amount of N and 10-15 % of the amounts of other nutrients that were added to the soil in fine residues. It should be noted however, that ground vegetation can have a relatively large impact on short-term nutrient fluxes after clear-cutting because dead ground vegetation decomposes faster than tree compartments (Mikola 1954,

Johansson 1993).

Part of the ground vegetation probably died during the logging operation after which the high light intensity, temporary drought stress, soil compaction and logging residues may have had a negative effect on growth and survival (Tamm 1953, Kellomäki and Saastamoinen 1975, Busby et al. 1978, Keenan and Kimmins 1993, Olsson and Staaf 1995, Atlegrim and Sjöberg 1996). The field layer vegetation recovered fairly soon compared to mosses (III, IV). Conceivably, the disruption of mosses after clear-cutting has improved the germination of vascular plants. The biomass of dwarf shrubs returned to the pre-cutting levels relatively fast. Dwarf shrubs can effectively regenerate from rhizomes and are probably rapidly capable of replacing the biomass that was destroyed during harvesting because they have been shown to recover rapidly also from frost or herbivory caused damages (Tolvanen 1997, Tolvanen and Laine 1997). D. flexuosa in turn grows rapidly when the light and nutrient availability improves (Foggo 1989) and its flowering and seedling production are abundant in open areas (Scurfield 1954). After 3-5 years also E. angustifolium dispersed to the clear-cut plots but did not reach a very high biomass (IV). E. angustifolium is considered as a nitrogen indicator species (Bråkenhielm and Liu 1998), and perhaps it did not appear on the study plots until 3-5 years after clear-cutting because there was no net release of N from the logging residues during the first three years after cutting (I).

The shift in biomass allocation from roots to above-ground parts and concentration of the roots in more superficial soil layers after clear-cutting (III) were probably due to changes in species composition (IV). It is known that grasses and herbs at least have more superficial roots than dwarf shrubs (Taskinen et al. 2003).

The biomass and nutrient pools returned to pre-cutting levels in five years and the pools of P and K became even greater (III). The increase in the P and K pools was proportionally greater than that of the biomass. This was due to increase in the biomass of *E. angustifolium* and D. flexuosa which had high concentrations of P and K in their tissues (IV). The amounts of nutrients accumulated in the above-ground parts of the ground vegetation after clear-cutting correspond well with those reported for a Norway spruce stand in northern Sweden (Nykvist 1977). In more southerly Norway spruce forests, the development of ground vegetation after clear-cutting has been found to be faster and the amounts of accumulated nutrients greater (Nykvist 1977, Örlander et al. 1996, Nilsson and Örlander 1999, Ring et al. 2003) than in this study site. Part of the nutrients are only temporarily stored in the ground vegetation because a relatively large proportion of the annual ground vegetation production returns to the soil as litterfall in the autumn (Mälkönen 1974). After clear-cutting the ground vegetation recycles nutrients at a faster rate compared to the ground vegetation of old-growth forest because a higher proportion of the annual production is lost as litterfall each year because the proportion of mosses and dwarf shrubs out of the biomass is decreased and that of grasses and herbs increased (Mälkönen 1974).

A decrease in ground vegetation biomass during the first two years after clear-cutting reduces nutrient uptake and potential retention in the system, which may increase nutrient leaching. Furthermore, the observed reduction in rooting depth may promote leaching from deeper soil layers, and decomposing dead ground vegetation can act as a source of leached nutrients.

Nutrient uptake by ground vegetation after clear-cutting was estimated (Table 2) by using the annual biomass production values reported by Tamm (1953) and Mälkönen (1974). It can be seen that the majority of nutrients taken up is initially used for the biomass production of roots, mosses and *V. myrtillus*, but the importance of grasses and herbs in nutrient uptake increases with time. The calculations indicate that the ground vegetation is capable of taking up only a small fraction of the nutrients that are released from logging residues during the first

two years after clear-cutting (Figure 3). In the third year the ground vegetation can take up all P and K that are released from logging residues and received from deposition but is not able to utilise all the released Ca. The results suggest that nutrients released from logging residues are initially retained primarily through soil processes and microbial immobilization. In the first year after clear-cutting more N (29.4 kg ha⁻¹) and Ca (13.2 kg ha⁻¹) accumulated in the logging residues than were stored in the ground vegetation (22 kg N ha⁻¹ and 5.9 kg Ca ha⁻¹), indicating that microbial immobilization in logging residues at first played a more important role in the retention of N and Ca than the ground vegetation. From the third year onwards, the ground

vegetation becomes a significant nutrient sink. In the fifth year after clear-cutting, nutrient uptake by ground vegetation (22.1 kg N ha⁻¹, 2.6 kg P ha⁻¹, 14.2 kg K ha⁻¹ and 6.2 kg Ca ha⁻¹) is the same order of magnitude as the nutrient uptake by trees in this study site before clear-cutting (Piirainen 2002).

4.1.4 Relationship of decomposing logging residues and developing ground vegetation to nutrient leaching

Considerably more C was released from logging residues than was leached down through the soil horizons (Figure 3). Furthermore, the mineral soil C pool increased only by 112 kg ha⁻¹ after clear-cutting over the three-year study period in this same study plot (Piirainen 2002b) indicating that the majority of the released C was lost to the atmosphere as CO₂. Nitrogen and Ca were not released from logging residues in the first year and the leaching of N and Ca did not increase either. Although there was no net release of N from logging residues during the third year, increased N leaching was observed below the organic horizon. Similarly, in the second year there was increased Ca leaching although no net release of Ca from logging residues occurred, indicating that N and Ca must also have been released from dead ground vegetation, the organic layer and/or coarse logging residues. Several studies have indicated that, during the first few years after clear-cutting, N is not released from logging residues but is leached from the organic layer (Covington 1981, Rosén and Lundmark-Thelin 1987, Emmett et al. 1991b, Stevens et al. 1995). Presumably, dead ground vegetation was also a source of leached nutrients (Mikola 1954, Johansson 1993), but it is unlikely that coarse residues would have been N and Ca sources because they decompose slowly and N and Ca are generally accumulated rather than released from coarse roots and branches during the initial stages of decomposition (Edmonds 1987, Fahey et al. 1988, Scheu and Schauermann 1994, Hyvönen et al. 2000). Increased leaching of N has also been observed in ground water (Mannerkoski et al. 2005) and stream water (Ahtiainen et al. 2003) after clear-cutting in this study site.

The pulse of P and K released from logging residues was clearly observed in the soil water (Figure 3). The leaching of P and K below the O-horizon followed the release of P and K from logging residues, with the leaching being the greatest during the first year after clear-cutting and then starting to diminish. However, in the first year more P and K was released from logging residues than was leached below the O-horizon, indicating that part of the released P and K was retained in the organic layer and ground vegetation. Phosphorus could also have accumulated in coarse residues because this element often limits the decomposition of coarse woody debris (Barber and Van Lear 1984, Laiho and Prescott 1999). Although the released amount of K decreased after the first year, the leaching of K below the O-horizon remained high. Potassium was also probably rapidly mineralised from decomposing dead ground vegetation (Johansson 1993) and coarse residues (Fahey et al. 1988, Fahey et al. 1991b, Krankina et al. 1999). Logging residues have been shown to be the source of leached P and K also in other studies, because leaving the logging residues on site have resulted in higher P and K

Table 2. The biomass and estimated nutrient uptake of ground vegetation (kg ha⁻¹) during the first three years after clear-cutting. Annual biomass production of mosses, *V. myrtillus*, *V. vitis-idaea* and roots were estimated to be 33, 45, 35 and 40 %, respectively. These estimates are based on the values reported by Tamm (1953) and Mälkönen (1974). The above-ground parts of grasses and herbs are annual and are thus renewed each year.

	Dry mass	Ν	Р	К	Са
1. Year					
Mosses	421.9	1.43	0.21	0.72	0.47
V. myrtillus	216.3	1.06	0.11	0.55	0.38
V. vitis-idaea	15.1	0.06	0.01	0.03	0.02
Grasses and herbs	3.8	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.01
Roots	2714.5	6.05	0.69	1.94	1.42
Total	3371.6	8.64	1.03	3.26	2.30
2. Year					
Mosses	63.3	0.27	0.03	0.08	0.09
V. myrtillus	162.5	1.04	0.12	0.59	0.34
V. vitis-idaea	45.1	0.22	0.03	0.12	0.07
Grasses and herbs	60.0	0.87	0.10	0.52	0.28
Roots	1965.4	4.51	0.47	1.08	1.05
Total	2296.3	6.91	0.75	2.39	1.83
3. Year					
Mosses	522.5	2.11	0.25	0.51	0.75
V. myrtillus	268.9	1.50	0.19	1.25	0.35
V. vitis-idaea	56.7	0.25	0.03	0.21	0.06
Grasses and herbs	351.6	3.97	0.56	3.61	1.02
Roots	2260.0	6.31	0.60	1.16	1.17
Total	3459.7	14.14	1.63	6.74	3.35

levels in soil water compared with whole-tree harvesting (Staaf and Olsson 1994, Stevens et al. 1995).

During the first three years after clear-cutting, less C, P and K, but more N and Ca were leached below the O-horizon than were released from logging residues. The amount of N derived from deposition remained unchanged after clear-cutting, whereas C, P, K and Ca deposition decreased (Figures 1 and 3) that may have partly decreased the leaching losses of these nutrients.

Although large amounts of nutrients were released from logging residues and the ground vegetation suffered from clear-cutting, the nutrient fluxes below the B-horizon were small indicating that mineral soil efficiently retains nutrients (Figure 3, Piirainen 2002). Only a small proportion of the P (9.8 kg ha⁻¹) and K (64.9 kg ha⁻¹) released from the logging residues was lost into the stream. The leaching of P and K into the stream was only 0.02 kg ha⁻¹ and 2.3 kg ha⁻¹ higher during the first three years after clear-cutting compared to the pre-cutting levels (Ahtiainen et al. 2003) indicating that the released nutrients were effectively retained within the catchment. Nutrient losses caused by leaching were small compared to the losses caused

by the removal of stems (Figures 2 and 3).

This study supports the findings that logging residues can act as a N sink and thus counteract the leaching of N after clear-cutting (Barber and Van Lear 1984, Fahey et al. 1991b, Carlyle et al. 1998). The results suggest that the nutrient losses caused by whole-tree harvesting can not merely be estimated on the basis of the amount of nutrients that is removed with logging residues, because the removal of branches may increase the leaching of nutrients that are released from needles, older litter, organic layer and dead ground vegetation.

4.1.5 Other processes

Weathering, N fixation and the decomposition of coarse residues and dead ground vegetation were not measured in this study. It is not clear whether weathering rates are affected by clearcutting and thus contribute to the increased concentrations of P, K and Ca in the soil solution. The decrease in the biomass of mosses (III) probably decreased the N input to the system, because the N fixation of feather mosses in mature forests in Scandinavia can be about the same magnitude $(1.5 - 2 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ a}^{-1})$ as the input from deposition (DeLuca et al. 2002). On the other hand, the logging residues may have increased the N input into the system through N fixation by providing a habitat for free-living, N-fixing microbes (Granhall and Lindberg 1980). Ground vegetation may significantly affect the nutrient fluxes in clear-cut areas because ground vegetation that dies as a result of clear-cutting and the litterfall of ground vegetation are probably relatively easily decomposable (Mikola 1954, Johansson 1993), and considerable amount of nutrients are cycled through ground vegetation annually (Mälkönen 1974, Helmisaari 1995). Coarse residues can play an even more important role as a N sink than fine residues because they decompose slowly and probably more N is accumulated in this material due to the lower N concentration and C/N ratio (Hyvönen et al. 2000, Berg and McClaugherty 2003) and greater N fixation (Granhall and Lindberg 1980).

4.2 Decomposition in the clear-cut area compared to the uncut forest

Although the average air and soil temperatures were higher and more rainfall reached the ground in the clear-cut area than in the forest, this did not lead to higher mass losses (I). The decomposition of spruce needles and birch roots was actually significantly slower at the clearcut plot than at the forest plot. Episodic drought, high near-ground temperatures and fluctuations in soil moisture and temperature (Bååth 1980, Kubin and Kemppainen 1991, Schwendenmann 2000, Redding et al. 2003) may have decreased microbial biomass and activity and altered the decomposer community structure in the clear-cut area (Huhta 1976, Bååth 1980, Siira-Pietikäinen et al. 2001, Hassett and Zak 2005) that may have had retarding effect on decomposition. Destruction of the moss cover after clear-cutting (III) may have further increased the moisture and temperature fluctuations in the soil surface and the organic layer because the moss layer has an insulating effect. Moreover, the loss of root exudation may have decreased microbial activity in the clear-cut area (Zhu and Ehrenfeld 1996). The decomposition of roots, branches and foliage has not earlier been compared between clear-cut and forest areas in Finland. Johansson and Grälls (1989) studied the decomposition of Norway spruce needle litter in a clear-cut area and forest in Sweden and did not observe any increased decomposition in the clear-cut area, either.

Removal of the forest canopy subjects decomposing material to greater wetting-drying and freezing-thawing cycles which may increase fragmentation and the leaching of nutrients and soluble substances (Taylor and Parkinson 1988). This may be the reason for the observed

increased decomposition of birch leaves in the clear-cut area (I), because birch leaves contain high amounts of soluble compounds (Johansson 1995). Physical processes have probably had a lesser effect on the decomposition of needles, roots and branches because they contain only small amounts of soluble compounds (Johansson 1995, Berg and McClaugherty 2003), and the cuticle and waxes in the needles and root and branch bark protects against mechanical damage and forms an obstacle to leaching. This finding is consistent with the results of Kim et al. (1996) and Prescott (1997), who found that clear-cutting increased the mass loss of broadleaf litter but retarded the decomposition of conifer needles. More intense fragmentation and mechanical leaching may be the reason for the observed faster nutrient release in the clear-cut plot (I, II).

4.3 Generalization of the results

This study consisted of only one experimental site that hampers the generalization of the results. The lack of replicate reference and treated plots is a common limitation in this kind of comparative studies (e.g. Fahey et al. 1991a, 1991b, Lundmark-Thelin and Johansson 1997, Bock and Van Rees 2002) because in general there are no sufficiently resources to conduct these types of studies in several sites. The results received here are likely valid only in the coniferous dominated forests, which grow on sites with medium fertility, situate relatively north and receive low deposition loads. The development of ground vegetation after clear-cutting differs between site types (Salemaa and Jukola-Sulonen 1998). It is also known that the abundance of species differs between high and low deposition areas (Rosén et al. 1992, Mäkipää 1998). In more fertile sites, logging residues can be expected to contain higher concentrations of nutrients than in this study site, and accordingly, nutrients are likely released faster and the accumulation of N in logging residues does not necessarily occur. The results suggest that in birch-dominated forests, nutrients are released faster from logging residues than in coniferous forests (I, II), and there is net release of N from birch logging residues during the first three years after clear-cutting (I, Table 4).

5. CONCLUSIONS

Carbon, P and especially K are rapidly released from logging residues, whereas the release of Ca is slow and there is no net release of N during the first three years following clear-cutting. The results suggest that logging residues are a potential source of the C, P, K and Ca leached during the first three years after clear-cutting, but that leached N probably originates from the organic layer and decomposing dead ground vegetation. The accumulation of N in logging residues can initially play an important role in the retention of N on the site, especially as the ground vegetation suffers from clear-cutting. The results suggest that the effect of whole-tree harvesting on the nutrient status of the site cannot be merely estimated by taking into account the amount of nutrients that is removed from site with logging residues because microbial immobilization in logging residues can promote N retention and attenuate leaching. The role of logging residues as a nutrient sink requires further study, and it would be also important to determine how long N will retain in logging residues. Calcium is also released from logging residues with delay. The results imply that microbial immobilization in logging residues initially plays a more important role in the retention of N and Ca than the ground vegetation. The results provide no evidence that clear-cutting consistently results in more rapid decomposition

and nutrient release from logging residues, but suggests that the decomposition of birch leaves and in some cases also the release of K and Ca can be faster in clear-cut areas possibly due to more intense fragmentation and mechanical leaching.

The ground vegetation is capable of taking up only a small fraction of the nutrients released from logging residues during the first two years after clear-cutting and the decomposing dead ground vegetation is a potential source of leached nutrients. The results suggest that nutrients released from logging residues are initially retained primarily through soil processes and microbial immobilization but ground vegetation becomes a significant nutrient sink soon after clear-cutting.

As this study was conducted in only one experimental site, broad generalizations cannot be made. However, this study provides detailed information about the nutrient pools and fluxes after clear-cutting a Norway spruce dominated forest. In the future the release of nutrients from coarse logging residues, organic layer and dead ground vegetation after clear-cutting should be studied. Performing more accurate nutrient budget estimations also necessitates investigations on changes in the soil nutrient pools.

6. REFERENCES

- Abbott, D.T. & Crossley, D.A. Jr. 1982. Woody litter decomposition following clear-cutting. Ecology 63: 35-42.
- Ahtiainen, M. & Huttunen, P. 1999. Long-term effects of forestry managements on water quality and loading in brooks. Boreal Environment Research 4: 101-114.
- —, Finér, L., Haapanen, M., Kenttämies, K., Mattsson, T. & Rämö, A. 2003. Näkyvätkö hakkuun ja maanmuokkauksen vaikutukset valumaveden laadussa – tehoavatko ympäristönsuojeluohjeet? In: Finér, L., Laurén, A. & Karvinen, L. (eds.) Ajankohtaista metsätalouden ympäristökuormituksesta – tutkimustietoa ja työkaluja. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 886. p. 25-33.
- Atlegrim, O. & Sjöberg, K. 1996. Response of bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus*) to clear-cutting and single-tree selection harvests in uneven-aged boreal *Picea abies* forests. Forest Ecology and Management 86: 39-50.
- Bååth, E. 1980. Soil fungal biomass after clear-cutting of a pine forest in central Sweden. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 12: 495-500.
- Barber, B.L. & Van Lear, D.H. 1984. Weight loss and nutrient dynamics in decomposing woody loblolly pine logging slash. Soil Science Society of America Journal 48: 906-910.
- Bengtsson, J. & Wikström, F. 1993. Effects of whole-tree harvesting on the amount of soil carbon: model results. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science 23: 380-389.
- Berg, B. 1984. Decomposition of root litter and some factors regulating the process: long-term root litter decomposition in a Scots pine forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 16: 609-617.
- 1988. Dynamics of nitrogen (¹⁵N) in decomposing Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) needle litter. Long-term decomposition in a Scots pine forest. VI. Canadian Journal of Botany 66: 1539-1546.
- & Söderström, B. 1979. Fungal biomass and nitrogen in decomposing Scots pine needle litter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 11: 339-341.
- & Staaf, H. 1981. Leaching, accumulation and release of nitrogen in decomposing forest litter. In: Clark, F.E. & Roswall, T. (eds.) Terrestrial nitrogen cycles. Ecological Bulletins 33: 163-178.

- & McClaugherty, C. 2003. Plant litter. Decomposition, humus formation, carbon sequestration. Springer Verlag, Berlin. 286 p.
- —, Berg, M.P., Bottner, P., Box, E., Breymeyer, A., Calvo De Anta, R., Coutreaux, M., Escudero, A., Gallardo, A., Kratz, W., Madeira, M., Mälkönen, E., McClaugherty, C., Meentemeyer, V., Muñöz, F., Piussi, P., Remacle, J. & Virzo De Santo, A. 1993. Litter mass loss rates in pine forests of Europe and eastern United States: some relationships with climate and litter quality. Biogeochemistry 20: 127-159.
- Berger, A.L., Puettmann, K.J. & Host, G.E. 2004. Harvesting impacts on soil and understory vegetation: the influence of season of harvest and within-site disturbance patterns on clearcut aspen stands in Minnesota. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34: 2159-2168.
- Bergquist, J., Örlander, G. & Nilsson, U. 1999. Deer browsing and slash removal affect field vegetation on south Swedish clearcuts. Forest Ecology and Management 115: 171-182.
- Bergstedt, J. & Milberg, P. 2001. The impact of logging intensity on field-layer vegetation in Swedish boreal forests. Forest Ecology and Management 154: 105-115.
- Binkley, D. 1984. Does forest removal increase rates of decomposition and nitrogen release? Forest Ecology and Management 8: 229-233.
- Blair, J.M. & Crossley, D.A. Jr. 1988. Litter decomposition, nitrogen dynamics and litter microarthropods in a southern Appalachian hardwood forest 8 years following clear-cutting. Journal of Applied Ecology 25: 683-698.
- Bock, M.D. & Van Rees, K.C.J. 2002. Forest harvesting impacts on soil properties and vegetation communities in the Northwest territories. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32: 713-724.
- Boring, L.R., Monk, C.D. & Swank, W.T. 1981. Early regeneration of a clear-cut southern Appalachian forest. Ecology 62: 1244-1253.
- Bråkenhielm, S. & Liu, Q. 1998. Long-term effects of clear-felling on vegetation dynamics and species diversity in a boreal pine forest. Biodiversity and Conservation 7: 207-220.
- Broderick, D.H. 1990. The biology of Canadian weeds. 93. *Epilobium angustifolium* L. (Onagraceae). Canadian Journal of Plant Science 70: 247-259.
- Busby, J.R., Bliss, L.C. & Hamilton, C.D. 1978. Microclimate control of growth rates and habitats of the boreal forest mosses, *Tomenthypnum nitens* and *Hylocomium splendens*. Ecological Monographs 48: 95-110.
- Cajander, A.K. 1949. Forest types and their significance. Acta Forestalia Fennica 56. 71 p.
- Carlyle, J.C., Bligh, M.W. & Nambiar, E.K.S. 1998. Woody residue management to reduce nitrogen and phosphorus leaching from sandy soil after clear-felling *Pinus radiata* plantations. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 28: 1222-1232.
- Chadwick, D.R., Ineson, P., Woods, C. & Piearce, T.G. 1998. Decomposition of *Pinus sylvestris* litter in litter bags: influence of underlying native litter layer. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30: 47-55.
- Climatological Statistics in Finland 1960-1990. 1991. Suomen meteorologinen vuosikirja 90 (1). Finnish Meteorological Institute, Helsinki. 125 p.
- Cortina, J. & Vallejo, V.R. 1994. Effects of clearfelling on forest floor accumulation and litter decomposition in a radiata pine plantation. Forest Ecology and Management 70: 299-310.
- Covington, W.W. 1981. Changes in the forest floor organic matter and nutrient content following clear cutting in northern hardwoods. Ecology 62: 41-48.
- DeLuca, T.H., Zackrisson, O., Nilsson, M.-C. & Sellstedt, A. 2002. Quantifying nitrogenfixation in feather moss carpets of boreal forests. Nature 419: 917-920.
- Edmonds, R.L. 1987. Decomposition rates and nutrient dynamics in small-diameter woody litter in four forest ecosystems in Washington, U.S.A. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 17: 499-509.

- Egnell, G. & Valinger, E. 2003. Survival, growth, and growth allocation of planted Scots pine trees after different levels of biomass removal in clear-felling. Forest Ecology and Management 177: 65-74.
- Emmett, B.A., Anderson, J.M. & Hornung, M. 1991a. Nitrogen sinks following two intensities of harvesting in a Sitka spruce forest (N. Wales) and the effect of establishment of the next crop. Forest Ecology and Management 41: 81-93.
- —, Anderson, J.M. & Hornung, M. 1991b. The controls on dissolved nitrogen losses following two intensities of harvesting in a Sitka spruce forest (N. Wales). Forest Ecology and Management 41: 65-80.
- FAO, 1988. FAO/UNESCO 'Soil map of the World', Revised Legend, World Resources Report 60, Rome, Reprinted as Technical Paper 20, ISRIC, Wageningen, 1989. 138 p.
- Fahey, T.J. 1983. Nutrient dynamics of aboveground detritus in lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* ssp. *latifolia*) ecosystems, southeastern Wyoming. Ecological Monographs 53: 51-72.
- —, Hughes, J.W., Pu, M. & Arthur, M.A. 1988. Root decomposition and nutrient flux following whole-tree harvest of northern hardwood forest. Forest Science 34: 744-768.
- —, Hill, M.O., Stevens, P.A., Hornung, M. & Rowland, P. 1991a. Nutrient accumulation in vegetation following conventional and whole-tree harvest of Sitka spruce plantations in North Wales. Forestry 64: 271-288.
- , Stevens, P.A., Hornung, M. & Rowland, P. 1991b. Decomposition and nutrient release from logging residue following conventional harvest of Sitka spruce forest in North Wales. Forestry 64: 289-301.
- Fenton, N.J., Frego, K.A. & Sims, M.R. 2003. Changes in forest floor bryophyte (moss and liverwort) communities 4 years after forest harvest. Canadian Journal of Botany 81: 714-731.
- Finér, L. 1989. Biomass and nutrient cycle in fertilized and unfertilized pine, mixed birch and pine and spruce stands on a drained mire. Acta Forestalia Fennica 208. 63 p.
- —, Ahtiainen, M., Mannerkoski, H., Möttönen, V., Piirainen, S., Seuna, P. & Starr, M. 1997. Effects of harvesting and scarification on water and nutrient fluxes. A description of catchments and methods, and results from the pretreatment calibration period. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 648. 38 p.
- , Mannerkoski, H., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2003. Carbon and nitrogen pools in an oldgrowth, Norway spruce-mixed forest in eastern Finland and changes associated with clearcutting. Forest Ecology and Management 174: 51-63.
- —, Kortelainen, P., Mattson, T., Ahtiainen, M. Kubin, E. & Sallantaus, T. 2004. Sulphate and base cation concentrations and export in streams from unmanaged forested catchments in Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 195: 115-128.
- Fisher, R.F. & Binkley, D. 2000. Ecology and management of forest soils. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York. 489 p.
- Foggo, M.N. 1989. Vegetative responses of *Deschampsia flexuosa* (L.) Trin. (Poaceae) seedlings to nitrogen supply and photosynthetically active radiation. Functional Ecology 3: 337-343.
- Gholz, H.L., Hawk, G.M., Campbell, A., Cromack K.Jr. & Brown, A.T. 1985. Early vegetation recovery and element cycles on a clear-cut watershed in western Oregon. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 15: 400-409.
- Granhall, U. & Lindberg, T. 1980. Nitrogen input through biological nitrogen fixation. In: Persson, T. (ed.) Structure and function of northern coniferous forests - an ecosystem study. Ecological Bulletins 32: 333-340.
- Grigal, D.F. 2000. Effects of extensive forest management on soil productivity. Forest Ecology and Management 138: 167-185.

- Grip, H. 1982. Water chemistry and runoff in forest streams at Kloten. Uppsala Universitet Naturgeografiska Institutionen UNGI 58: 1-80.
- Hafner, S.D., Groffman, P.M. & Mitchell, M.J. 2005. Leaching of dissolved organic carbon, dissolved organic nitrogen, and other solutes from coarse woody debris and litter in a mixed forest in New York state. Biogeochemistry 74: 257-282.
- Hakkila, P. 1991. Hakkuupoistuman latvusmassa. Folia Forestalia 773. 24 p.
- 2002. Operations with reduced environmental impact. In: Richardson, J., Björnheden, R., Hakkila, P., Lowe, A.T. & Smith, C.T. (eds.) Bioenergy from sustainable forestry. Guiding principles and practice. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands. p. 244-261.
- Halonen, O., Tulkki, H. & Derome, J. 1983. Nutrient analysis methods. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 121. 28 p.
- Hangs, R.D., Knight, J.D. & Van Rees, K.C.J. 2003. Nitrogen uptake characteristics for roots of conifer seedlings and common boreal forest competitor species. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33: 156-163.
- Hannerz, M. & Hånell, B. 1997. Effects on the flora in Norway spruce forests following clearcutting and shelterwood cutting. Forest Ecology and Management 90: 29-49.
- Hassett, J.E. & Zak, D.R. 2005. Aspen harvest intensity decreases microbial biomass, extracellular enzyme activity, and soil nitrogen cycling. Soil Science Society of America Journal 69: 227-235.
- Havas, P. & Kubin, E. 1983. Structure, growth and organic matter content in the vegetation cover of an old spruce forest in northern Finland. Annales Botanici Fennici 20: 115-149.
- Helmisaari, H.-S. 1992. Nutrient retranslocation in three *Pinus sylvestris* stands. Forest Ecology and Management 51: 347-367.
- 1995. Nutrient cycling in *Pinus sylvestris* stands in eastern Finland. Plant and Soil 168-169: 327-336.
- & Mälkönen, E. 1989. Acidity and nutrient content of throughfall and soil leachate in three *Pinus sylvestris* stands. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 4: 13-28.
- & Hallbäcken, L. 1999. Fine-root biomass and necromass in limed and fertilized Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) stands. Forest Ecology and Management 119: 99-110.
- Hjellbrekke, A.-G. 2000. EMEP Co-operative programme for monitoring and evaluation of the long-range trasmission of air pollutants in Europe. Data Reports 1998. Part 1: Annual summaries. EMEP/CCC-Report 3/2000. NILU. 83 p.
- Hope, G.D., Prescott, C.E. & Blevins, L.L. 2003. Responses of available soil nitrogen and litter decomposition to openings of different sizes in dry interior Douglas-fir forests in British Columbia. Forest Ecology and Management 186: 33-46.
- Hornbeck, J.W. 1970. The radiant energy budget of clearcut and forested sites in West Virginia. Forest Science 16: 139-145.
- Huhta, V. 1976. Effects of clear-cutting on numbers, biomass and community respiration of soil invertebrates. Annales Zoologici Fennici 13: 63-80.
- Hurlbert, S.H. 1984. Pseudoreplication and the design of ecological field experiments. Ecological Monographs 54: 187-211.
- Hynynen, J. 2001. Energiapuuvarat. In: Nurmi, J. & Kokko, A. (eds.) Biomassan tehostetun talteenoton seurannaisvaikutukset metsässä. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 816: 9-16.
- Hyvönen, R., Olsson, B.A., Lundkvist, H. & Staaf, H. 2000. Decomposition and nutrient release from *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. and *Pinus sylvestris* L. logging residues. Forest Ecology and Management 126: 97-112.

- Ilvesniemi, H., Forsius, M., Finér, L., Holmberg, M., Kareinen, T., Lepistö, H., Piirainen, S., Pumpanen, J., Rankinen, K., Starr, M., Tamminen, P., Ukonmaanaho, L. & Vanhala, P. 2002. Carbon and nitrogen storages and fluxes in Finnish forest ecosystems. In: Käyhkö, J. & Talve, L. (eds.) Understanding the global system, the Finnish perspective. Finnish global change programme FIGARE. Painosalama, Turku, Finland. p. 69-82.
- ISO 7150/1 1984. Water quality Determination of ammonium. Part 1: Manual spectrometric method.
- Jalonen, J. & Vanha-Majamaa, I. 2001. Immediate effects of four different felling methods on mature boreal spruce forest understorey vegetation in southern Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 146: 25-34.
- Jansson, P.E. & Berg, B. 1985. Temporal variation of litter decomposition in relation to simulated soil climate. Long-term decomposition in a Scots pine forest. V. Canadian Journal of Botany 63: 1008-1016.
- Järvinen, O. & Vänni, T. 1990. Bulk deposition chemistry in Finland. In: Kauppi, P., Anttila, P. & Kenttämies, K. (eds.) Acidification in Finland. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg. p. 811-823.
- Johansson, M.-B. 1984. Decomposition of leaf and root litters from some coniferous and broad-leaved trees at sites located in different parts of Sweden. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Reports in Forest Ecology and Forest Soils. 42. 27 p.
- 1993. Biomass, decomposition and nutrient release of *Vaccinium myrtillus* leaf litter in four forest stands. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 8: 466-479.
- 1994. Decomposition rates of Scots pine needle litter related to site properties, litter quality, and climate. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 24: 1771-1781.
- 1995. The chemical composition of needle and leaf litter from Scots pine, Norway spruce and white birch in Scandinavian forests. Forestry 68: 49-62.
- & Grälls, C. 1989. Quantity, decomposition and nutrient dynamics of litterfall in some forest stands at Hålebäck, southern Sweden. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Reports in Forest Ecology and Forest Soils. 62. 25 p.
- Jonsson, B.G. 1993. The bryophyte diaspore bank and its role after small-scale disturbance in a boreal forest. Journal of Vegetation Science 4: 819-826.
- Jurgensen, M.F., Larsen M.J., Spano, S.D., Harvey, A.E. & Gale, M.R. 1984. Nitrogen fixation associated with increased wood decay in Douglas-fir residue. Forest Science 30: 1038-1044.
- —, Harvey, A.E., Graham, R.T., Page-Dumroese, D.S., Tonn, J.R., Larsen, M.F. & Jain, T.B. 1997. Impacts of timber harvesting on soil organic matter, nitrogen, productivity, and health of inland northwest forests. Forest Science 43: 234-251.
- Keenan, R.J. & Kimmins, J.P. 1993. The ecological effects of clear-cutting. Environmental Reviews 1:121-144.
- Kellomäki, S. & Saastamoinen, V.-L. 1975. Trampling tolerance of forest vegetation Acta Forestalia Fennica 147: 1-21.
- & Hari, P. 1976. Rate of photosynthesis of some forest mosses as a function of temperature and light intensity and effect of water content of moss cushion on photosynthetic rate. Silva Fennica 10: 288-295.
- —, Hari, P. & Väisänen, E. 1977. Annual production of some forest mosses as a function of light available for photosynthesis. Silva Fennica 11: 81-86.

Killham, K. 1994. Soil Ecology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 242 p.

Kim, C., Sharik, T.L. & Jurgensen, M.F. 1996. Canopy cover effects on mass loss, and nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics in decomposing litter in oak and pine stands in northern lower

Michigan. Forest Ecology and Management 80: 13-20.

- Kimmins, H.J.P., Martin, W.L. & Bradley, R.L. 2002. Post-clearcutting chronosequence in the B.C. coastal western hemlock zone: III. sinks for mineralised or dissolved organic N. Journal of Sustainable Forestry 14: 45-68.
- Klemmedson, J.O., Meier, C.E. & Campbell, R.E. 1985. Needle decomposition and nutrient release in Ponderosa pine ecosystems. Forest Science 31: 647-660.
- Krankina, O.N., Harmon, M.E. & Griazkin, A.V. 1999. Nutrient stores and dynamics of woody detritus in a boreal forest: modelling potential implications at the stand level. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29: 20-32.
- Kubin, E 1977. The effect of clear cutting upon the nutrient status of a spruce forest in northern Finland (64° 28' N). Acta Forestalia Fennica 155: 1-40.
- 1998. Leaching of nitrate nitrogen into the groundwater after clear felling and site preparation. Boreal Environment Research 3: 3–8.
- & Kemppainen, L. 1991. Effect of clearcutting of boreal spruce forest on air and soil temperature conditions. Acta Forestalia Fennica 225: 1-42.
- Laiho, R. & Prescott, C.E. 1999. The contribution of coarse woody debris to carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus cycles in three Rocky Mountain coniferous forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29: 1592-1603.
- Laskowski, R., Berg, B., Johansson, M.-B. & McClaugherty, C. 1995. Release pattern for potassium from decomposing forest needle and leaf litter. Long-term decomposition in a Scots pine forest. IX. Canadian Journal of Botany 73: 2019-2027.
- Lepistö, A., Andersson, L., Arheimer, B. & Sundblad, K. 1995. Influence of catchment characteristics, forestry activities and deposition on nitrogen export from small forested catchments. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 84: 81-102.
- Likens, G.E. & Bormann, F.H. 1995. Biogeochemistry of a forested ecosystem. Springer- Verlag, New York. 159 p.
- , Bormann, G.H. & Johnson, N.M. 1969. Nitrification: importance to nutrient losses from a cutover forested ecosystem. Science 163: 1205-1206.
- —, Bormann, F.H., Johnson, N.M., Fisher, D.W. & Pierce, R.S. 1970. Effects of forest cutting and herbicide treatment on nutrient budgets in the Hubbard Brook watershed-ecosystem. Ecological Monographs 40: 23-47.
- Lindahl, B., Finlay, R. & Olsson, S. 2001. Simultaneous, bidirectional translocation of ³²P and ³³P between wood blocks connected by mycelial cords of Hypholoma fasciculare. New Phytologist 150: 189-194.
- Liski, J. & Westman, C.J. 1995. Density of organic carbon in soil at coniferous forest sites in southern Finland. Biogeochemistry 29: 183-197.
- —, Ilvesniemi, H., Mäkelä, A. & Starr, M. 1998. Effect of soil age, forest fires and harvesting on the storage of organic carbon in podzolizing boreal forest soil. European Journal of Soil Science 49: 407-416.
- Littell, R.C., Milliken, G.A., Stroup, W.W. & Wolfinger, R.D. 1996. SAS® system for mixed models, Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc. 633 p.
- Lõhmus, K. & Ivask, M. 1995. Decomposition and nitrogen dynamics of fine roots of Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) at different sites. Plant and Soil 168/169: 89-94.
- Lundin, L. 1979. The effect of clearcutting on soil moisture and ground water level. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Reports in Forest Ecology and Forest Soils. 36. 35 p.
- Lundmark-Thelin, A. & Johansson, M.-B. 1997. Influence of mechanical site preparation decomposition and nutrient dynamics of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) needle litter and slash needles. Forest Ecology and Management 96: 101-110.

- Mäkipää, R. 1994. Effects of nitrogen fertilization on the humus layer and ground vegetation under closed canopy in boreal coniferous stands. Silva Fennica 28: 81-94.
- 1998. Sensitivity of understorey vegetation to nitrogen and sulphur deposition in a spruce stand. Ecological Engineering 10: 87-95.
- Makkonen, K. & Helmisaari, H.-S. 1998. Seasonal and yearly variations of fine-root biomass and necromass in a Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) stand. Forest Ecology and Management 102: 283-290.
- & Helmisaari, H.-S. 2001. Fine root biomass and production in Scots pine stands in relation to stand age. Tree Physiology 21: 193-198.
- Mälkönen, E. 1974. Annual primary production and nutrient cycle in some Scots pine stands. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 84: 1-87.
- 1975. Hakkuutähteiden talteenoton seurannaisvaikutuksia. Työtehoseura. Teho 10: 12-13.
- 1976. Effect of whole-tree harvesting on soil fertility. Silva Fennica 10: 157-164.
- Mannerkoski, H., Finér, L., Piirainen, S. & Starr, M. 2005. Effect of clear-cutting and site preparation on the level and quality of groundwater in some headwater catchments in eastern Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 220: 107-117.
- Marklund, L.G. 1988. Biomassafunktioner för tall, gran och björk i Sverige. Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet. Rapporter-Skog Rapport 45. 73 p.
- Marks, P.L. & Bormann, F.H. 1972. Revegetation following forest cutting: mechanisms to return to steady-state nutrient cycling. Science 176: 914-915.
- Martin, W.L., Bradley, R.L. & Kimmins, J.P.H. 2002. Post-clearcutting chronosequence in the B.C. coastal western hemlock zone: I. Changes in forest floor mass and N storage. Journal of Sustainable Forestry 14: 1-22.
- Mattson, K.G., Swank, W.T. & Waide, J.B. 1987. Decomposition of woody debris in a regenerating, clear-cut forest in the southern Appalachians. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 17: 712-721.
- Mattson, T., Finér, L., Kortelainen, P. & Sallantaus T. 2003. Brook water quality and background leaching from unmanaged forest catchments. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 147: 275-297.
- Melillo, J.M., Aber, J.D. & Muratore, J.F. 1982. Nitrogen and lignin control of hardwood leaf litter decomposition dynamics. Ecology 63: 621-626.
- Mikola, P. 1954. Kokeellisia tutkimuksia metsäkarikkeiden hajaantumisnopeudesta. Summary: Experiments on the rate of decomposition of forest litter. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 43 (1):1-50.
- Moorhead, D.L., Currie, W.S., Rastetter, E.B., Parton, W.J. & Harmon, M.E. 1999. Climate and litter quality controls on decomposition: an analysis of modelling approaches. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 13: 575-589.
- Mou, P., Fahey, T.J. & Hughes, J.W. 1993. Effects of soil disturbance on vegetation recovery and nutrient accumulation following whole-tree harvest of a northern hardwood ecosystem. Journal of Applied Ecology 30: 661-675.
- Niemelä, S. & Sundman, V. 1977. Effects of clear-cutting on the composition of bacterial populations of northern spruce soil. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 23: 131-138.
- Nieppola, J.J. & Carleton, T.J. 1991. Relations between understorey vegetation, site productivity, and environmental factors in *Pinus sylvestris* L. stands in southern Finland. Vegetatio 93: 57-72.
- Nilsson, U. & Örlander, G. 1999. Vegetation management on grass-dominated clearcuts planted with Norway spruce in southern Sweden. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29: 1015-1026.
- & Örlander, G. 2003. Response of newly planted Norway spruce seedlings to fertilization,

irrigation and herbicide treatments. Annals of Forest Science 60: 637-643.

- Nohrstedt, H.-Ö., Ring, E., Klemedtsson, L. & Nilsson, Å. 1994. Nitrogen losses and soil water acidity after clear-felling of fertilized experimental plots in a *Pinus sylvestris* stand. Forest Ecology and Management 66: 69-86.
- Nykvist, N. 1971. The effect of clear felling on the distribution of biomass and nutrients. Ecological Bulletins 14: 166-178.
- 1977. Changes in the amounts of inorganic nutrients in the soil after clear-felling. Silva Fennica 11: 224-229.
- 1997. Changes in species occurrence and phytomass after clearfelling, prescribed burning and slash removal in two Swedish spruce forests. Studia Forestalia Suecica 201: 1-33.
- Olsson, B.A. & Staaf, H. 1995. Influence of harvesting intensity of logging residues on ground vegetation in coniferous forests. Journal of Applied Ecology 32: 640-654.
- , Bengtsson, J. & Lundkvist, H. 1996. Effects of different forest harvest intensities on the pools of exchangeable cations in coniferous forest soils. Forest Ecology and Management 84: 134-147.
- Ouro, G., Pérez-Batallón, P. & Merino, A. 2001. Effects of sylvicultural practices on nutrient status in a *Pinus radiata* plantation: nutrient export by tree removal and nutrient dynamics in decomposing logging residues. Annals of Forest Science 58: 411-422.
- Örlander, G., Nilsson, U. & Hällgren, J.-E. 1996. Competition for water and nutrients between ground vegetation and planted *Picea abies*. New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science 26: 99-117.
- Paavolainen, L. & Smolander, A. 1998. Nitrification and denitrification in soil from a clearcut Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) stand. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 30: 775-781.
- Peltola, A. (ed.) 2004. Finnish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry. Finnish Forest Research Institute. Vammalan kirjapaino Oy. 416 p.
- Persson, T., Bååth, E., Clarholm, M., Lundkvist, H., Söderström, B. & Sohlenius, B. 1980. Trophic structure, biomass, dynamics and carbon metabolism of soil organisms in a Scots pine forest. In: Persson, T. (ed.). Structure and function of northern coniferous forests. Ecological Bulletins 32: 419-462.
- Piirainen, S. 2002. Nutrient fluxes through a boreal coniferous forest and the effects of clearcutting. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Research Papers 859. 50 p.
- —, Finér, L. & Starr, M. 1998. Canopy and soil retention of nitrogen deposition in a mixed boreal forest in eastern Finland. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 105: 165-174.
- —, Finér, L. & Starr, M. 2002a. Deposition and leaching of sulphate and base cations in a mixed boreal forest in eastern Finland. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 131: 185-204.
- —, Finér, L., Mannerkoski, H. & Starr, M. 2002b. Effects of forest clear-cutting on the carbon and nitrogen fluxes through podzolic soil horizons. Plant and Soil 239: 301-311.
- —, Finér, L., Mannerkoski, H. & Starr, M. 2004. Effects of forest clear-cutting on the sulphur, phosphorus and base cation fluxes through podzolic soil horizons. Biogeochemistry 69: 405-424.
- Pitkänen, S. 1997. Correlation between stand structure and ground vegetation: an analytical approach. Plant Ecology 131: 109-126.
- Poikolainen, J. & Kubin, E. 1985. Snow, frost and temperature conditions in an uncut spruce forest and open clear-cut ploughed areas. Aquilo Ser. Botanica 23: 45-55.
- Prescott, C.E. 1997. Effects of clearcutting and alternative silvicultural systems on rates of decomposition and nitrogen mineralization in a coastal montane coniferous forest. Forest Ecology and Management 95: 253-260.
- 2000. Effects of clear-cutting on decomposition rates of litter and forest floor in forests of

British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30: 1751-1757.

- —, Taylor, B.R., Parsons, W.F.J., Durall, D.M. & Parkinson, D. 1993. Nutrient release from decomposing litter in Rocky Mountain coniferous forests: influence of nutrient availability. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23: 1576-1586.
- Qi, M. & Scarratt, J.B. 1998. Effect of harvesting method on seed bank dynamics in a boreal mixedwood forest in northwestern Ontario. Canadian Journal of Botany 76: 872-883.
- Redding, T.E., Hope, G.D., Fortin, M.-J., Schmidt, M.G. & Bailey, W.G. 2003. Spatial patterns of soil temperature and moisture across subalpine forest-clearcut edges in the southern interior of British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 83: 121-130.
- Reinikainen, A., Mäkipää, R., Vanha-Majamaa, I. & Hotanen, J.-P. (eds) 2000. Kasvit muuttuvassa metsäluonnossa. Summary: Changes in the frequency and abundance of forest and mire plants in Finland since 1950. Tammi, Helsinki. 384 p.
- Ring, E., Bergholm, J. Olsson, B. A., Jansson, G. 2003. Urea fertilizations of a Norway spruce stand: effects on nitrogen in soil water and field-layer vegetation after final felling. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33: 375-384.
- Rosén, K. 1984. Effect of clear-felling on runoff in two small watersheds in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 9: 267-281.
- & Lindberg, T. 1980. Biological nitrogen fixation in coniferous forest watershed areas in central Sweden. Holarctic Ecology 3: 137-140.
- & Lundmark-Thelin, A. 1987. Increased nitrogen leaching under piles of slash a consequence of modern forest harvesting techniques. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 2: 21-29.
- —, Gunderson, P., Tegnhammar, L., Johansson, M. & Frogner, T. 1992. Nitrogen enrichment of Nordic forest ecosystems: The concept of critical load. Ambio 21: 364-368.
- —, Aronson, J.-A. & Eriksson, H.M. 1996. Effects of clear-cutting on streamwater quality in forest catchments in central Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 83: 237-244.
- Ruoho-Airola, T., Alaviippola, B., Salminen, K. & Varjoranta, R. 2003. An investigation of base cation deposition in Finland. Boreal Environment Research 8: 83-95.
- Rusanen, K., Finér, L., Antikainen, M., Korkka-Niemi, K., Backman, B. & Britschgi, R. 2004. The effect of forest cutting on the quality of groundwater in large aquifers in Finland. Boreal Environment Research 9: 253-261.
- Salemaa, M. & Jukola-Sulonen, E.L. 1998. Avohakkuu ja kangasmetsän aluskasvillisuus. In: Lappalainen, I. (ed.) Suomen luonnon monimuotoisuus. Suomen Ympäristökeskus. Oy Edita Ab, Helsinki. p. 166-167.
- Salisbury, F.B. & Ross, C.W. 1985. Plant Physiology. Wadsworth Inc., California. 540 p. SAS® . 1997. SAS/STAT® Software: Changes and Enhancements through Release 6.12. 1167 p.
- Scheu, S. & Schauermann, J. 1994. Decomposition of roots and twigs: effects of wood type (beech and ash), diameter, site of exposure and macrofauna exclusion. Plant and Soil 163: 13-24.
- Schwendenmann, L. 2000. Soil properties of boreal riparian plant communities in relation to natural succession and clear-cutting, Peace River Lowlands, Wood Buffalo national park, Canada. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 122: 449-467.
- Scurfield, G. 1954. Deschampsia flexuosa (L.) Trin. Journal of Ecology 42: 225-233.
- Setälä, H., Haimi, J. & Huhta, V. 1988. A microcosm study on the respiration and weight loss in birch litter and raw humus as influenced by soil fauna. Biology and Fertility of Soils 5: 282-287.
- Siira-Pietikäinen, A., Pietikäinen, J., Fritze, H. & Haimi, J. 2001. Short-term responses of soil decomposer communities to forest management: clear felling versus alternative forest

harvesting methods. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31: 88-99.

- Silver, W.L. & Miya, R.K. 2001. Global patterns in root decomposition: comparisons of climate and litter quality effects. Oecologia 129: 407-419.
- Smolander, A., Kitunen, V. & Mälkönen, E. 2001. Dissolved soil organic nitrogen and carbon in a Norway spruce stand and an adjacent clear-cut. Biology and Fertility of Soils 33: 190-196.
- SPSS®. 2002. Syntax reference guide. Base system. Advanced models. Regression Models SPSS Inc, Chicago. p. 789-812.
- Staaf, H. & Berg, B. 1980. Distribution of organic matter, carbon and plant nutrients in soil in the early phase after clear-cutting of a Scots pine forest; with and without removal of logging slash. Swedish coniferous project, internal report 100: 1-24.
- & Olsson, B.A. 1991. Acidity in four coniferous forest soils after different harvesting regimes of logging slash. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 6: 19-29.
- & Olsson, B.A. 1994. Effects of slash removal and stump harvesting on soil water chemistry in a clearcutting in SW Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 9: 305-310.
- Starr, M., Lindroos, A.-J., Tarvainen, T. & Tanskanen, H. 1998. Weathering rates in the Hietajärvi integrated monitoring catchment. Boreal Environment Research 3: 275-285.
- Staples, T.E., Van Rees, K.C.J. & Van Kessel, C. 1999. Nitrogen competition using ¹⁵N between early successional plants and planted white spruce seedlings. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 29: 1282-1289.
- Stevens, P.A. & Hornung, M. 1990. Effect of harvest intensity and ground flora establishment on inorganic-N leaching from a Sitka spruce plantation in north Wales, UK. Biogeochemistry 10: 53-65.
- —, Norris, D.A., Williams, T.G., Hughes, S., Durrant, D.W.H., Anderson, M.A., Weatherley, N.S., Hornung, M. & Woods, C. 1995. Nutrient losses after clearfelling in Beddgelert forest: a comparison of the effects of conventional and whole-tree harvest on soil water chemistry. Forestry 68: 115-131.
- Swank, W.T, Vose, J.M. & Elliott, K.J. 2001. Long-term hydrologic and water quality responses following commercial clearcutting of mixed hardwoods on a southern Appalachian catchment. Forest Ecology and Management 143: 163-178.
- Swift, M.J., Heal, O.W. & Anderson, J.M. 1979. Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems. Studies in Ecology. Vol 5. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Berkeley, California. 372 p.
- Tamm, C.O. 1953. Growth, yield and nutrition in carpets of a forest moss (Hylocomium splendens). Meddelanden från Statens Skogsforsknings Institute 43 (1): 1-140.
- Tamminen, P. & Starr, M. 1994. Bulk density of forested mineral soils. Silva Fennica 28: 53-60.
- Taskinen, O., Ilvesniemi, H., Kuuluvainen, T. & Leinonen, K. 2003. Response of fine roots to an experimental gap in a boreal *Picea abies* forest. Plant and Soil 255: 503-512.
- Taylor, B.R. & Parkinson, D. 1988. Does repeated freezing and thawing accelerate decay of leaf litter ? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 20: 657-665.
- Titus, B.D. & Malcolm, D.C. 1999. The long-term decomposition of Sitka spruce needles in brash. Forestry 72: 207-221.
- Tolvanen, A. 1997. Recovery of the bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) from artificial spring and summer frost. Plant Ecology 130: 35-39.
- & Laine, K. 1997. Effects of reproduction and artificial herbivory on vegetative growth and resource levels in deciduous and evergreen dwarf shrubs. Canadian Journal of Botany 75: 656-666.
- Tukey, H.B.Jr. 1970. The leaching of substances from plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology

21: 305-332.

- Vestgarden, L.S. 2001. Carbon and nitrogen turnover in the early stage of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) needle litter decomposition: effects of internal and external nitrogen. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33: 465-474.
- Voipio, R. & Laakso, T. 1992. Chemical composition of the above ground biomass of smallsized trees. Folia Forestalia 789: 1-22.
- White, A.F. & Blum, A.E. 1995. Effects of climate on chemical weathering in watersheds. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 59: 1729-1747.
- White, R.E. 1997. Principles and Practice of Soil Science. The soil as a natural resource. Blackwell Science, Cambridge. 348 p.
- Wiklander, G. 1981. Clear-cutting and the nitrogen cycle. Heterogenous nitrogen leaching after clear-cutting. In: Clark, F.E. & Rosswall, T. (eds.). Terrestrial nitrogen cycles. Processes, ecosystem strategies and management impacts. Ecological Bulletins 33: 642-647.
- Will, G.M., Hodgkiss, P.D. & Madgwick, H.A.I. 1983. Nutrient losses from litterbags containing *Pinus radiata* litter: influences of thinning, clear-felling and urea fertilizer. New Zealand Journal of Forest Science 13: 291-304.
- Witkamp, M. 1971. Soils as components of ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 2: 85-110.
- Yin, X., Perry, J.A. & Dixon, R.K. 1989. Influence of canopy removal on oak forest floor decomposition. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 19: 204-214.
- Zackrisson, O., DeLuca, T.H., Nilsson, M.-C., Sellstedt, A. & Berglund, L.M. 2004. Nitrogen fixation increases with successional age in boreal forests. Ecology 85: 3327-3334.
- Zhu, W. & Ehrenfeld, J.G. 1996. The effects of mycorrhizal roots on litter decomposition, soil biota, and nutrients in a spodosolic soil. Plant and Soil 179: 109-118.